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ITEM 2. ACQUISITION OR DISPOSITION OF ASSETS  

On November 3, 1997, CACI International Inc announced that it has completed its acquisition of Government Systems, Inc. (GSI). CACI paid 
$28 million in cash for the business and net assets of GSI, plus an additional payment of $5.5 million to pay-off an existing debt of GSI. The 
transaction was funded through borrowings under the company's existing line of credit.  

GSI, headquartered in Chantilly, Virginia, has approximately 250 employees worldwide. Its current annual revenues are $36 million. GSI 
delivers international communications and network-related services to the U.S. Government and other organizations.  

A copy of the Company's November 3, 1997 Press Release regarding the acquisition of GSI is attached as an Exhibit to this Report on Form 8-
K.  

ITEM 7. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND EXHIBITS.  

(a)(1) Financial Statements. Consolidated financial statements for GSI for the years ended March 28, 1997, and March 29, 1996, and 
Independent Accountants' Report.  

(b)(2) Pro Forma financial information. Pro Forma financial information relative to the acquired business for the most recent fiscal year ending 
June 30, 1997, and for the quarter ending September 30, 1997, shall be filed not later than 60 days after the date of this initial report on Form 8-
K.  

(c)Exhibits.  

Exhibit 99.1 Acquisition Agreement by and among CACI International Inc, CACI, Inc. and Government Systems, Inc. dated as of October 31, 
1997.  

Exhibit 99.2 Closing Agreement by and among CACI International Inc, CACI, Inc. and Infonet Services Corporation dated as of October 31, 
1997.  

Exhibit 99.3 Press Release dated November 3, 1997, announcing completion of the GSI business acquisition.  
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INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS' REPORT  

To the Board of Directors  
Government Systems, Inc.  
Fairfax, VA  

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of Government Systems, Inc. (the Company) as of March 28, 1997, and March 29, 1996, and 
the related statements of income, stockholders' equity, and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility 
of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.  

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test 
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles 
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our 
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

In our opinion, such financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at March 28, 1997, and 
March 29, 1996, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles.  

 

Deloitte Touche  
Tohmatsu  
International  
[logo]  

    /s/ 
 
[Deloitte & Touche LLP] 
 
May 30, 1997 



GOVERNMENT SYSTEMS INC.  

BALANCE SHEETS  
MARCH 28, 1997, AND MARCH 29,1996  
(Dollars in Thousands)  

 
ASSETS  

CURRENT ASSETS:  

 

See notes to financial statements.  

March 28,  March 29,  
   1997       1996 

  Cash and cash equivalents (Note 2)                 $ 2,820    $    61 
  Accounts receivable                                  8,423      7,129 
  Prepaid expenses and other                             149        132 
  Costs incurred in excess of billings (Note 3)       14,094     15,292 
  Deferred tax asset (Notes 2 and 6)                   1,599        183 
                                                     -------    ------- 
 
    Total current assets                              27,085     22,797 
                                                     -------    ------- 
 
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT - At cost (Note 2): 
  Communication, computer, and related equipment       1,876      1,966 
  Leasehold improvements                                 107        101 
  Furniture and other equipment                          259        370 
                                                     -------    ------- 
 
                                                       2,242      2,437 
  Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization      1,861      1,661 
                                                     -------    ------- 
 
    Net property and equipment                           381        776 
                                                     -------    ------- 
 
NONCURRENT ASSETS: 
  Deferred tax asset (Notes 2 and 6)                     125        310 
  Deposits                                                39         36 
  Other assets (Note 8)                                  979        777 
                                                     -------    ------- 
 
    Total noncurrent assets                            1,143      1,123 
                                                     -------    ------- 
 
TOTAL                                                $28,609    $24,696 
 
 
                                                              (Continued)  



GOVERNMENT SYSTEMS INC.  

BALANCE SHEETS  
MARCH 28, 1997, AND MARCH 29,1996  
(Dollars in Thousands)  

March 28, March 29,  
1997 1996  

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY  

CURRENT LIABILITIES:  

 

See notes to financial statements.  

  Accounts payable and accrued expenses              $ 5,049    $ 5,514 
  Current portion due, long-term debt (Note 7)         4,358      2,663 
  Income taxes payable (Notes 2 and 6)                   607         11 
                                                     -------    ------- 
 
    Total current liabilities                         10,014      8,188 
 
LONG-TERM DEBT (Note 7)                                7,671      2,663 
 
DEFERRED INCOME, COMPENSATION, AND ROYALTIES           1,276      4,785 
 
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY: 
  Capital stock, $.01 par value per share; 
    1,050 issued & outstanding in 1997 and 1996            1          1 
  Additional paid-in capital                           3,000      3,000 
  Retained earnings                                    6,647      6,059 
                                                     -------    ------- 
 
    Total stockholders' equity                         9,648      9,060 
                                                     -------    ------- 
 
TOTAL                                                $28,609    $24,696 
                                                     =======    ======= 
 
 
                                                             (Concluded)  



GOVERNMENT SYSTEMS INC.  

STATEMENTS OF INCOME  
YEARS ENDED MARCH 28, 1997, AND MARCH 29,1996  
(Dollars in Thousands)  

 

See notes to financial statements.  

                                                        Year Ended 
                                                    --------------------  
                                                    March 28,  March 29,  
                                                      1997       1996 
 
REVENUES (Note 1): 
  Communication and computer services                $38,884    $42,034 
  Interest and other income                               53         46 
                                                     -------    ------- 
 
    Total revenues                                    38,937     42,080 
                                                     -------    ------- 
 
EXPENSES: 
  Direct labor                                         5,503      6,183 
  Other direct costs                                  23,688     25,122 
  Overhead                                             5,952      6,362 
  General and administrative                           2,224      2,112 
  Interest expense                                       672        261 
                                                     -------    ------- 
 
    Total expenses                                    38,039     40,040 
 
INCOME BEFORE TAXES                                      898      2,040 
 
INCOME TAXES (Note 6)                                    310        827 
                                                     -------    ------- 
 
NET INCOME                                           $   588    $ 1,213 
                                                     =======    ======= 



GOVERNMENT SYSTEMS INC.  

STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY  
YEARS ENDED MARCH 28, 1997, AND MARCH 29,1996  
(Dollars in Thousands)  

 

See notes to financial statements.  

                                          Capital 
Stock                                    Total 
                                         ---------- -----     Paid-in  
Retained    Stockholder's 
                                         Shares   A mount     Capital  
Earnings       Equity 
BALANCE, AT APRIL 1, 1995                 1,050   $  1         $    -  
$4,846        $4,847 
 
  Net income                                   -     -             -  
1,213         1,213 
  Additional paid-in capital                   -     - 
3,000              -         3,000 
                                          -----    ---        ------  
------        ------ 
 
BALANCE, AT MARCH 29,1996                 1,050      1         3,000  
6,059         9,060 
  Net income                                  -      - 
-            588           588 
 
BALANCE, AT MARCH 28,1997                 1,050    $ 1        $3,000  
$6,647        $9,648 
                                          =====    ===        ======  
======        ====== 



GOVERNMENT SYSTEMS, INC.  

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  
YEARS ENDED MARCH 28,1997, AND MARCH 29,1996  
(Dollars in Thousands)  

 

See notes to financial statements.  

--------------------------------------------------- ----------------------  
                                                   March 28,   March 29, 
                                                     1997        1996 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES: 
  Net income                                        $  588     $ 1,213 
  Adjustments to reconcile net income to 
    net cash used in operating activities: 
  Depreciation and amortization                        731         685 
  Deferred income taxes                             (1,345)       (195) 
  Write-off of software development costs                -       5,548 
Changes in assets and liabilities: 
               Accounts receivable                  (1,294)       (867) 
  Prepaid expenses and other                          (222)       (619) 
  Costs incurred in excess of billings               1,198      (8,573) 
  Accounts payable and accrued expenses               (465)     (3,043) 
  Deferred income, compensation & royalties         (3,509)     (1,833) 
  Income taxes payable                                 710       1,093 
                                                    ------      ------ 
 
    Net cash used in operating activities           (3,608)     (6,591) 
                                                    ------      ------ 
 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES: 
  Purchases of property & equipment                   (336)       (733) 
  Software development costs capitalized                 -      (2,911) 
                                                    ------      ------ 
   Net cash used in investing activities              (336)     (3,644) 
                                                    ------      ------ 
 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES: 
  Borrowings under line of credit                   16,940       8,327 
  Repayment on line of credit                      (22,266)     (3,000) 
  Borrowings under long-term debt                   13,327           - 
 Repayment on long-term debt                        (1,298)          - 
  Additional paid-in capital                             -       3,000 
 
    Net cash provided by financing activities        6,703       8,327 
 
 
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND 
  CASH EQUIVALENTS                                   2,759      (1,908) 
 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR            61       1,969 
 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR             $ 2,820      $   61 
 
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF 
 CASH FLOW INFORMATION: 
  Cash paid during the year for income taxes       $ 1,871      $  577 
  Cash paid during the year for interest expense   $   672      $  261 



GOVERNMENT SYSTEMS, INC.  

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
YEARS ENDED MARCH 28,1997, AND MARCH 29,1996  

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS  

Government System, Inc. ("GSI" or the "Company") provides international communications services and products primarily to Federal 
Government agencies and is headquartered in Chantilly, Virginia. GSI provides its services directly through prime contracts or through 
subcontracts to other prime contractors. The Company is 39%-owned by Infonet Services Corporation (Infonet), who consolidates GSI in their 
financial statements.  

The Company's principal customers are the Department of Defense, the Department of Transportation, General Services Administration, and 
other Federal agencies.  

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

Estimates - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date 
of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from 
those estimates.  

Revenue Recognition - The company provides services under fixed-price, cost-based, and time-and-materials contracts. For fixed-price 
contracts, income is recorded on the basis of the estimated percentage of completion of services rendered. Losses, if any, on fixed-price 
contracts are recognized during the period in which the loss is determined. Fixed-price contracts require management to estimate current and 
future revenues and costs and the percentage of work complete on a periodic basis. These estimates have a material effect on the financial 
statements and it is reasonably possible that changes in these estimates will occur in the near term (Note 3). For cost-based contracts, income is 
recorded by applying an estimated profit factor to costs as incurred, such factor being determined by contract provisions and prior experience. 
For time-and-materials and other contracts, revenue is recorded as the services or products are delivered to the customer at the contractual rates 
for labor and other direct costs.  

Accounts Receivable - Accounts receivable includes amounts under long-term contracts and subcontracts, principally with the U.S. 
Government, of $8,422,745 and $7,129,740 at March 28, 1997, and March 29, 1996, respectively. Included in this amount is $3,181,691 and 
$562,415 of work-in-process that has been billed in accordance with the contract terms and delivery schedules of the FAA contract (Note 3). 
The Company believes substantially all accounts receivable to be collectible within one year and no allowance for doubtful accounts is 
necessary.  

Costs Incurred in Excess of Billings - Costs incurred in excess of billings represent those costs to build out, operate, and maintain the network 
required by the FAA contract. These costs are charged to operations as services are delivered on contract line item numbers (CLIN's) to the 
customer and accepted. Cash Equivalents - Cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments purchased with a maturity of less than three 
months, which are readily convertible into cash.  

Concentration of Credit Risk - The Company's financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of its 
cash equivalents, short-term investments, and trade receivables. The Company restricts investment of cash equivalents and short-term 
investments to financial institutions with high credit standing. Credit risk on trade receivables is minimal as these amounts are due primarily 
from agencies of the Federal Government.  

Depreciation and Amortization - The cost of property and equipment, less applicable residual values, is depreciated over their useful lives, 
generally on the, straight-line method, from the date the specific asset is complete, installed and ready for normal use, as follows:  

 

Income Taxes - Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are computed annually for differences between the financial statement and income 
tax bases of assets and liabilities that will result in taxable or deductible amounts in the future. Such deferred income tax asset and liability 
computations are based on enacted tax laws and rates applicable to periods in which the differences are expected to impact tax-able income. If 
necessary, a valuation allowance is established to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized. Income tax expense is the 
sum of tax payable or refundable for the period and the effect of any changes in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the period.  

Reclassifications - Certain reclassifications have been made to the 1996 financial statement to conform with the 1997 presentation.  

Computers and software        2 years 
Communications equipment      2 years 
Furniture and equipment       2 years 
Leasehold improvements        Shorter of lease term  or useful lives  



3. COSTS INCURRED IN EXCESS OF BILLINGS  

In September 1994, the Company entered into a ten-year contract consisting of five base years and five option years with the Department of 
Transportation (DOT) to provide domestic and international communication services under an infinite delivery, infinite quantity, fixed-price 
contract. In March 1997, the Company submitted a $15.8 million certified claim against the contract for costs incurred and related profit due to 
a change in scope of the original contract made by the DOT. The basis for the claim is that the network the Company has been required to 
design, deliver, and manage far exceeded that which had been specified in the contract. At March 28, 1997, the accompanying balance sheet 
includes approximately $11 million in costs incurred in excess of billings related to this claim.  

Currently, the Company and the DOT are in negotiations to settle this claim. Ultimately, the Company expects to settle this matter based upon 
the terms and conditions of the contract and the facts and circumstances encountered in the execution of the contract. Management believes that 
the ultimate resolution of this matter will not have a material adverse effect on the accompanying financial statements.  

4. CAPITALIZED SOFTWARE COSTS  

During 1996 and 1995, GSI capitalized software development costs of $5,548,000. Management had estimated that these costs would be 
recovered against current and future business opportunities. During 1996, it was determined that the Company was unwilling to continue to 
pursue these opportunities and wrote off its investment in this effort.  

5. RETIREMENT PLANS  

Pensions - GSI participates in the Infonet Services Corporation (see Note 9) Pension Plan (the Plan), which is a contributory defined benefit 
pension plan in which substantially all domestic employees are eligible to participate. The benefits for the Plan are based on years of 
participation and the employee's compensation over the entire period of participation in the Plan.  

GSI's portion of the net periodic pension cost for pension plans includes the following components (in thousands):  

 

The following table sets forth the funded status and amounts recognized in the Company's balance sheet (in thousands):  

                                   1997           1 996 
                                   ----           - --- 
 
Service cost                      $ 132          $ 101 
Interest cost                        88             90 
Actual return on plan assets       (193)          ( 328)  
Net amortization and deferral        37            215 
                                  -----          -- --- 
 
Net periodic pension cost         $  64          $  78 
                                  =====          == === 

                                                      Assets 
                                                Exc eed Accumulated 
                                                Ben efit Obligations 
                                                --- ---------------- 
                                                 19 97         1996 
                                                 -- --         ---- 
Actuarial present value of 
  benefit obligations - 
    Vested benefit obligation                   $1, 124        $  898 
    Nonvested benefit obligation                   209           126 
                                                --- ---        ------ 
 
Accumulated benefit obligation                  $1, 333        $1,024 
                                                === ===        ====== 
 
Projected benefit obligation                    $1, 408        $1,179 
Plan assets at fair market value                 2, 070         1,679 
                                                --- ---        ------ 
Projected benefit obligation 
  less than plan assets                           ( 662)         (501)  
Unrecognized items: 
  Net gain                                         698           473 
                                                --- ---        ------ 
 
Accrued pension liability                       $   36        $  (28)  
                                                === ===        ====== 
 
Assumptions used in accounting 
  for the Company's plans wore: 
    Discount or settlement rate                   7 .5 %         7.5 %  
    Rate of increase in compensation levels       4 .5 %         4.5 %  



 

Plan assets include mutual funds and short-term investment funds.  

Other Postretirement Benefits - The Company provides health care and life insurance benefits for certain current retirees. The Financial 
Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 106, "Employers' Accounting for Postretirement 
Benefits Other Than Pensions," which requires the accrual of certain postretirement benefits other than pensions, primarily health care and life 
insurance, over the active service period of employees. SFAS No. 106 also requires the recognition of a transition obligation based on the 
aggregate amount that would have been accrued had the statement been applied in prior years.  

The Company adopted SFAS No. 106 effective April 1, 1995. Based on an actuarial study, the transition obligation is estimated at $130,626 at 
March 28, 1997. The Company has determined that the obligation will be amortized over a 20-year period.  

A summary of the components of postretirement medical benefits expense as recorded in the financial statements for the year ended March 28, 
1997, is as follows.  

 

The funded status of the plans at March 28, 1997, is as follows:  

 

A discount rate of 7.50% was used to determine the projected benefit obligation at March 28, 1997. The annual healthcare cost trend rates are 
assumed to decrease at 1% per year from 13% in 1996 to 6% in 2003 for employees under the age of 65, and from 12% to 6% for employees 
over 65 for the same period.  

401(k) Plan - The Company also maintains for the benefit of all its employees a deferred compensation arrangement established under Section 
401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Employees may defer up to 15% of their pretax salary. The Company will contribute 75% of employees 
contributions up to 3% of employee's pretax salary. During the fiscal years ended March 28, 1997, and March 29, 1996, the Company 
contributions were $211,263 and $224,450, respectively.  

6. INCOME TAXES  

The provision for taxes on income consists of the following (in thousands):  

    Expected long-term rate of return on assets   9 .0 %         9.0 %  

                                           1997     1996  
                                           ----     ----  
 
Service cost                               $  -     $  -  
Interest cost on accumulated 
  benefit obligation                          7        7  
Actual return on plan assets                  -        -  
Amortization of transition amount             7        7  
                                           ----     ----  
 
Net periodic postretirement benefit cost   $ 14     $ 14  
                                           ====     ====  

                                                  P ostretirement  
                                                       Medical 
                                                   Benefits Plan  
                                                   -------------  
 
Actuarial present value of benefit obligations: 
  Vested                                               $(60,993)  
  Nonvested                                                   - 
                                                       -------- 
 
Accumulated benefit obligations                         (60,993)  
Effect of estimated future pay increases                      - 
                                                       -------- 
 
Projected benefit obligation                            (60,993)  
Fair value of plan assets                                     - 
                                                       -------- 
Unfunded projected benefit obligation                   (60,993)  
Unrecognized net gain                                  (100,778)  
Unrecognized net (asset) obligation at transition       130,626 
Unrecognized prior-service cost                               - 
                                                       -------- 
 
Accrued postretirement medical benefit cost            $(31,145)  
                                                       ======== 



 

A reconciliation of the Company's statutory and effective U.S. federal income tax expense and rates is as follows (dollars in thousands):  

 

The Company's deferred tax asset results primarily from temporary differences between revenues related to the claim described in Note 3 and 
reported for financial statement purposes and such revenues for income tax purposes.  

7. COMMITMENTS  

Debt - The Company had a line of credit of $10 million with Infonet Services Corporation, a common and preferred shareholder of the 
Company (Infonet), which was payable on demand. The line was paid in full during 1997. As of March 28, 1997 and March 29, 1996, the 
Company had $0 and $5,326,000 of borrowings outstanding on this line of credit, which is included in long-term debt.  

Long-Term Debt - Long-tem debt consists of notes payable that are collateralized by equipment that had an original cost of approximately 
$14,000,000 (see Note 3) and is payable in monthly installments through fiscal year 2000. The net book value is included in costs incurred in 
excess of billings at March 28, 1997. Interest is based on the three month LIBOR rate (5.805% at March 28, 1997) plus a fixed percentage 
(usually between 1.5% -2%). Long-term debt consists of the following (in thousands):  

 

Maturities of long-term debt are as follows (in thousands):  

 
$12,029  

Leases - Minimum fixed payments required for the next five years and thereafter under operating leases in effect at March 28, 1997, are as 
follows(amounts in thousands):  

Operating Leases  

                              1997        1996 
                              ----        ---- 
 
Current portion: 
  Federal                   $ 1,455      $ 792 
  State                         200        230 
Deferred portion             (1,345)      (195)  
                            -------      ----- 
                            $   310      $ 827 
                            =======      ===== 

                                          1997      1996 
                                          ----      ---- 
 
Income tax expense at statutory rate     $ 305      $ 694  
State taxes net of federal benefit          40         88  
Other                                      (35)        45  
                                         -----      -----  
                                         $ 310      $ 827  
                                         =====      =====  

                                                 19 97 
                                                 -- -- 
 
Diamond Lease                                 $ 3,4 45 
Diamond Lease                                   2,9 25 
General Electric Capital Corporation            3,0 42 
Fifth 3rd Bank                                  2,6 17 
                                              ----- -- 
 
                                               12,0 29 
                                              ----- -- 
 
Less: Current maturities on long-tern debt     (4,3 58)  
                                              ----- -- 
Long-term debt                                $ 7,6 71 
                                              ===== == 

1998                $ 4,358  
1999                  4,358  
2000                  3,313  
                    -------  



 

Rental expense under noncancellable operating leases for the use of property and equipment amounted to approximately $1,079,000 in 1997 
and $1,077,000 in 1996.  

8. DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLANS  

The Company has a nonqualified deferred income plan for employees earning over a prescribed amount. Participants may defer receipt of 
compensation, which is held by the Company in trust and is invested in accordance with the participants' recommendations. The investments 
are accounted for at fair market value with any adjustments to market made through the deferred compensation liability. At March 28, 1997, 
and March 29, 1996, the deferred compensation investment balance was $875,261 and $688,257, respectively. The related deferred 
compensation liability was $959,777 and $774,327, respectively.  

9. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  

The Company provides communications and other support services to Infonet. For the years ended March 28, 1997, and March 29, 1996, the 
Company earned revenues of $2,937,729 and $7,112,645, respectively, from subcontracts with Infonet. Of the amount earned for the year 
ended March 29, 1996, $1,061,054 was for installation, maintenance, and depot services. These services were terminated during the first 
quarter of fiscal year 1997. At March 28, 1997, and March 29, 1996, the accounts receivable balance due from Infonet was $237,933 and 
$592,026, respectively.  

The Company's line of credit with Infonet was $0 at March 28, 1997. The interest expense for the line of credit was $244,045 and $261,000 for 
the years ended March 28, 1997, and March 19, 1996, respectively.  

10. CAPITAL STOCK  

Capital Stock is comprised of the following elements:  

 

Common Stock shares include the right to elect all of the Directors at the Company. All dividends and economic benefits, if any, accrue to the 
Preferred Stockholder.  

          Real Estate   Equipment  
          -----------------------  
 
1998        $  813         $ 51 
1999           534           51 
2000            38           51 
2001             -           51 
2002             -            7 
            ------         ---- 
 
            $1,385         $211 
            ======         ==== 

                                          Number of  
                                        Shares Issu ed 
                                       and Outstand ing  
 
Class A Common                               390 
Class B Common                               390 
Class C Common                               220 
Accumulative Preferred                        50 
                                             --- 
 
  Total shares issued and outstanding      1,050 
                                           ===== 



SIGNATURE  

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Company has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the 
undersigned hereunto duly authorized.  

CACI International Inc  
(Registrant)  

 

 

          /s/ 
By:-------------------------------------- 
   Arnold D. Morse 
   Vice President, 
   Assistant General Counsel & 
   Assistant Corporate Secretary 
 
 
 
   Dated: November 14, 1997 



Exhibit 99.3 CACI Completes Acquisition of Government Systems, Inc. (GSI) Also Signs Business Agreement With GSI Seller - Infonet 
Services Corporation  

ARLINGTON, VA, November 3, 1997 -- CACI International Inc (Nasdaq: CACI) announced today that it has completed its acquisition of 
Government Systems, Inc. (GSI). CACI paid $28 million in cash for the business and net assets of GSI, plus an additional payment of $5.5 
million to pay-off existing debt of GSI. The transaction was funded through borrowings under the company's existing line of credit. CACI 
expects the acquisition to be slightly accretive to earnings per share in the first year with significant contributions thereafter. The intent to 
acquire was originally announced on September 10, 1997.  

GSI, headquartered in Chantilly, Virginia, has approximately 250 employees worldwide. Its current annual revenues are $36 million. GSI 
delivers international communications and network-related services to the U.S. Government and other organizations. These services include 
full implementation of dedicated private networks, integrated public and private networks, installation and maintenance, and network 
management and operations. GSI maintains a solid contract base with tremendous long-term growth potential. Major clients include the 
Department of Defense, the Federal Aviation Administration and Globalstar.  

"This acquisition directly fuels CACI's growth strategy and strongly positions us in the rapidly expanding, high-potential area of 
communications services," said Dr. J. P. (Jack) London, CACI Chairman and CEO. "We welcome the exceptionally talented GSI employees to 
the CACI Team. The combination of GSI's unmatched strengths in data communications networks with CACI's comprehensive information 
technology solutions is a new and powerful total service offering for our mutual clients."  

CACI purchased GSI from Infonet Services Corporation, a multinational communications network provider headquartered in El Segundo, 
California. As a result of the acquisition, CACI will be able to offer Infonet's worldwide communications services and products to its clients, 
and has also agreed with Infonet to jointly pursue additional opportunities for end-to-end communications and network integration services.  

CACI is an information technology products and services provider that specializes in developing and integrating systems, software, and 
simulation products in support of government agencies and commercial enterprises worldwide. Celebrating 35 years in business, the company 
has approximately 3,600 employees and operates out of more than 70 offices in the U.S. and Europe.  

Several comments set forth above represent forward-looking statements. These statements are subject to important factors that could cause 
actual results to differ materially from the statements made today. The factors which could cause a material difference in results include, but are 
not limited to the following: regional and national economic conditions; changes in interest rates; changes in government spending policies 
and/or decisions concerning specific programs; the individual business decisions of our customers and clients; developments in technology; 
competitive factors and pricing pressures; changes in the regulation of our business; and our own ability to obtain the results now projected or 
anticipated.  

# # #  

For investor information contact:  
Deborah Tucker  
Investor Relations Director  
(703) 841-3710  
dtucker@hq.caci.com  

For other information contact:  
Jody Brown  
Public Relations Director  
(703) 841-7801  

jbrown@hq.caci.com  
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ACQUISITION AGREEMENT  

ACQUISITION AGREEMENT (the "Agreement"), dated as of October 31, 1997, by and among Government Systems, Inc., a Delaware 
corporation ("GSI"), CACI International Inc, a Delaware corporation ("CACI"), and CACI, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("CASub") and a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of CACI.  

WITNESSETH  

WHEREAS CACI provides information systems and services for U.S. Government and other customers; and  

WHEREAS GSI delivers global communications services and solutions to the desktop for U.S. Government customers, Government prime 
contractors, and other customers; and  

WHEREAS CACI wishes to purchase from GSI, and GSI wishes to sell to CACI, the business of GSI, consisting of certain assets of GSI 
hereinafter defined, together with assumption of certain liabilities of GSI hereinafter defined;  

GSI, CACI and CASub hereby agree as follows:  

ARTICLE 1  

PURCHASE OF ASSETS  

1.1 Purchase and Sale. Upon and subject to the terms and conditions hereof, at the Closing (as hereinafter defined), GSI shall sell, transfer and 
assign to CASub, and CASub shall purchase and acquire from GSI, all right, title and interest in and to the following described tangible and 
intangible assets of GSI (the "Assets") other than the Excluded Assets, as hereinafter defined, in each case free and clear of all liens, charges, 
security interests and other encumbrances except for the "Assumed Liabilities" (as hereinafter defined):  

1.1.1 All items set forth on Exhibit 1.1.1 (collectively the "Inventory");  

1.1.2 Machinery, equipment, tools, furniture, fixtures, vehicles, related parts and supplies and other tangible assets owned by GSI and all 
related computer programs, software and firmware owned by GSI and used in connection with the maintenance or operation of the business of 
GSI, to the extent set forth on Exhibit 1.1.2 (collectively, "Tangible Assets");  

1.1.3 All rights of GSI, whether now existing or hereafter arising, against manufacturers, vendors or subcontractors with respect to any of the 
Inventory or Tangible Assets or any part thereof, including, without limitation, all product warranties thereon and all rights set forth in Exhibit 
1.1.3;  

1.1.4 All books and records or parts thereof under the control of GSI (collectively, the "Asset Documents") relating to the Assets and the 
Intellectual Property (as hereinafter defined), including, without limitation, price lists, customer and vendor lists, historical sales data, payroll 
data and other accounting and business records, files and data relating to producing and selling the goods and services of GSI, maps, plans, 
diagrams, process and notebooks, specifications, test results, diagrams, flow charts, blueprints, drawings, schematics, manuals, maintenance 
logs, specifications and other documents, books, papers, ledgers and records, including, without limitation, the items set forth in Exhibit 1.1.4;  

1.1.5 All advances, prepaid expenses, other prepayments and related rights paid or obtained in connection with the Assets (collectively, the 
"Prepaid Expenses"), including, without limitation, the items set forth in Exhibit 1.1.5;  

1.1.6 All rights, registrations and applications for the trademarks, service marks and trade names set forth in Exhibit 1.1.6, all good will related 
thereto, all licensed software, and all know-how, copyrights, inventions and trade secrets and all registrations and applications for the 
registration thereof (collectively, the "Intellectual Property"), in each case relating to or used or useful in connection with the Assets or the 
business of GSI, including, without limitation, the items set forth in Exhibit 1.1.6;  

1.1.7 All rights and interests in, to and under all leases, contracts, licenses and other agreements set forth in Exhibit 1.1.7 (collectively, the 
"Assigned Contracts");  

1.1.8 All orders, deposits and payments set forth in Exhibit 1.1.8 (collectively, the "Orders"); and  

1.1.8 All rights of GSI, whether now existing or hereafter arising, against manufacturers, vendors or subcontractors with respect to any of the 
Assets or any part thereof, including, without limitation, all guarantees and product and other warranties issued in connection with the 
manufacture, sale or repair of the Assets, including, without limitation, the items set forth in Exhibit 1.1.9.  

1.2 Excluded Assets. None of the items listed in Exhibit 1.2 is being sold, assigned or otherwise transferred to CASub.  



1.3 Assumption of Liabilities. CACI and CASub hereby agree to assume and perform the Assumed Liabilities. The "Assumed Liabilities" shall 
mean (a) the current liabilities listed in Exhibit 1.3, (b) GSI's obligations under the Orders, payment or performance of which is due after the 
Closing and which relate to goods to be delivered or services to be performed after the Closing and (c) GSI's obligations under the Assigned 
Contracts, excluding the obligations described in Section 1.3.1.1.  

1.3.1 Except for the Assumed Liabilities, CACI and CASub are assuming no liabilities of GSI or any other person or entity in connection with 
this transaction. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, GSI shall be solely responsible for payment of all amounts at any time owing 
by GSI with respect to the business, operations or property of GSI, both before and after the Closing, whether accrued or contingent, known or 
unknown, other than the Assumed Liabilities. CACI specifically assumes no liability for, and GSI specifically retains sole responsibility for, 
the following, regardless of when discovered or asserted:  

1.3.1.1 Obligations under the Assigned Contracts arising as a result of any breach of any term or any default by GSI occurring before the 
Closing;  

1.3.1.2 All medical, dental, life insurance, workmen's compensation and other pension and welfare benefit obligations under any Benefit Plan 
for all hourly and salaried employees of GSI who terminated employment or retired before the Closing and all such obligations for claims 
under any Benefit Plan that were incurred or (with respect to workmen's compensation) injuries that occurred before the Closing;  

1.3.1.3 Any warranty or other claim relating to goods delivered or services performed by GSI before the Closing; and  

1.3.1.4 Any claim relating to failure to comply before the Closing with any Environmental Permit or Environmental Law (as hereinafter 
defined) or relating to any Environmental Contamination (as hereinafter defined), or use, disposal or discharge of any Materials of 
Environmental Concern (as hereinafter defined) by GSI or its lessees, agents or representatives, occurring or in existence on or before the 
Closing.  

1.4 Instruments of Transfer. The transfer of the Assets to be transferred to CASub at the Closing shall be effected by bills of sale, assignments 
and the other instruments of transfer as shall transfer to CASub full title to the Assets free and clear of all liens, charges, security interests and 
other encumbrances whatsoever except the Assumed Liabilities, all of which documents shall be substantially in the form attached hereto as 
Exhibit 1.4.  

1.5 Purchase Price. CACI shall pay to GSI, for the transfer of the Assets, a total purchase price of Twenty-Eight Million Dollars ($28,000,000) 
(the "Purchase Price"), allocated in the manner specified in Exhibit 1.5. The Purchase Price shall be payable at the Closing by wire transfer of 
immediately available funds to an account specified in writing by GSI.  

1.6 Taxes. GSI shall pay all sales, use, transfer or documentary taxes, or stamps and filing fees arising out of or relating to the sale of the Assets 
to CACI hereunder that are imposed as of the closing by any taxing authority.  

1.7 Closing.  

1.7.1 The closing of the purchase and sale of the Assets (the "Closing") shall occur simultaneously with the execution of this Agreement. All 
transactions occurring at the Closing shall be deemed to be effective as of 12:01 a.m. on November 1, 1997.  

1.7.2 At the Closing,  

1.7.2.1 GSI shall deliver to CACI:  

1.7.2.1.1 Bills of sale, assignments and other instruments of transfer of title to the Assets in substantially the form set forth in Exhibit 1.7.2.1.1;  

1.7.2.1.2 Licenses to use GSI's intellectual property (as defined therein) in substantially the form set forth in Exhibit 1.7.2.1.2;  

1.7.2.1.3 A certification, as described in Treasury Regulation Section 1.1445-2(b)(2), to the effect that GSI is not a "foreign person" within the 
meaning of Section 1445(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code");  

1.7.2.1.4 Agreed forms of assignments of the Assigned Contra cts and consents to such assignments;  

1.7.2.1.5 All originals and records of the Orders;  

1.7.2.1.6 The Asset Documents; and  

1.7.2.1.7 The documents required by Section 5.2 to be delivered by GSI as a condition to the obligations of CACI and CASub hereunder.  

1.7.2.2 CACI shall deliver to GSI:  



1.7.2.2.1 CACI and CASub's written assumption of and agreement to perform the Assumed Liabilities in substantially the form set forth in 
Exhibit 1.7.2.2.1;  

1.7.2.2.2 The payment required by Section 1.5; and  

1.7.2.2.3 The documents required by Section 5.3 to be delivered by CACI and CASub as a condition to GSI's obligations hereunder.  

1.8 Working Capital. At the Closing, CACI shall pay to GSI by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account specified by GSI 
Five Million Five Hundred Twenty-Two Thousand Dollars ($5,522,000) (the Working Capital Payment), which payment is based in part on the 
trial balance set forth as Exhibit 1.8, and in part on the agreement of the parties that the net value of the Assets at Closing (the value of the 
Assets less the value of the Assumed Liabilities) is Eleven Million Two Hundred Ninety-Four Thousand Dollars ($11,294,000).  

1.8.1 CASub shall provide GSI with assistance required by GSI to complete a formal closing of the books of GSI for the period ending October 
31, 1997 within thirty (30) days of the Closing.  

1.8.2 Within ten (10) days of completion of the closing of GSI's books for the period ending October 31, 1997, representatives of CACI and 
GSI shall confer and, based on the value of the Assets and the Assumed Liabilities as of October 31, 1997 (as modified by the following 
understanding: the parties agree that the value of the Assets and Assumed Liabilities shall be determined in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles, except with respect to the value of Work-In-Process Inventory Balance on Contract No. DCA200-94D-0089 (the 
"ADTN Contract"), which shall be stated at the value of future billings for equipment already purchased for that contract, less an allowance for 
fifteen percent profit; that amount is estimated to be $5,130,000 as at September 26, 1997), agree upon a net value of the Assets at Closing (the 
Final Working Capital Value). If the Final Working Capital Value exceeds Eleven Million Two Hundred Ninety-Four Thousand Dollars 
($11,294,000), CACI shall pay to GSI an amount equal to the amount by which such Final Working Capital Value exceeds Eleven Million Two 
Hundred Ninety-Four Thousand Dollars ($11,294,000). If, on the other hand, the Final Working Capital Value is less than Eleven Million Two 
Hundred Ninety-Four Thousand Dollars ($11,294,000) GSI shall pay to CACI an amount equal to the amount by which the Final Working 
Capital Value is less than Eleven Million Two Hundred Ninety-Four Thousand Dollars ($11,294,000). Any payment required to be paid 
pursuant to this Section 1.8.2 shall be made by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account specified by the payee within ten (10) 
days of agreement on the Final Working Capital Value.  

ARTICLE 2  

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF GSI  

GSI represents and warrants to CACI as follows:  

2.1 Corporate Status of GSI. GSI is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of Delaware. GSI is duly 
qualified to do business as a foreign corporation and is in good standing in all jurisdictions in which the character of the properties owned, 
leased or operated by GSI and used in the business of GSI or the nature of the business transacted by GSI makes such qualification necessary, 
except where failure to be so qualified would not have a materially adverse effect on the Assets or CASub's ability to purchase or use the assets 
as contemplated by this Agreement.  

2.2 Authority for Agreement. GSI has the full corporate power to own, lease and operate the Assets as currently owned, leased, operated and 
conducted and to execute, deliver, and perform this Agreement and the other transactions contemplated herein and to carry out its obligations 
hereunder. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the other transactions contemplated hereby have been duly and 
validly authorized by the Board of Directors of GSI and the stockholders of GSI, and no other corporate proceedings on the part of GSI remain 
necessary to authorize the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the other transactions contemplated hereby. This 
Agreement and the related documents have been duly executed and delivered by GSI and are legal, valid and binding obligations of GSI 
enforceable against GSI in accordance with their respective terms except as enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, 
reorganization or other laws affecting generally the enforcement of creditors' rights and except to the extent that courts may award money 
damages rather than specific performance of contractual provisions.  

2.3 No Default or Violation. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the other transactions contemplated hereby do not 
and will not (a) conflict with or result in a violation of any provision of the Certificate of Incorporation or By-Laws or other organizational 
documents of GSI, or (b) with or without the giving of notice or the lapse of time, or both, conflict with, or result in any violation or breach of 
or constitute a default under, or (except as otherwise contemplated by this Agreement) require the consent of any other party to, or result in any 
right to accelerate or the creation of any lien, charge or encumbrance pursuant to, or right of termination under, any provision of any note, 
mortgage, indenture, lease, agreement or other instrument, permit, concession, grant, franchise, license, judgment, order, decree, statute, law, 
ordinance, rule or regulation that could have a materially adverse effect on the Assets or CASub's ability to purchase or use the Assets as 
contemplated by this Agreement. Except as otherwise contemplated by this Agreement, no authorization, consent, approval, license, order, or 
permit of, or declaration of, or filing with or notice to, any governmental body or authority or any other person or entity is necessary for the 
execution and delivery of this Agreement by GSI or the consummation by GSI of the other transactions contemplated hereby.  

2.4 Financial Statements. GSI has previously furnished to CACI true and complete copies of its financial statements for each of the three fiscal 
years ended in March 1995, 1996, and 1997 (the "GSI Financial Statements"). Each of the balance sheets included in the GSI Financial 



Statements (including any related notes and schedules) fairly presents the consolidated financial position of GSI as of its date and the other 
financial statements included in the GSI Financial Statements (including any related notes and schedules) fairly present the consolidated results 
of operations or other information included therein of GSI for the periods or as of the dates therein set forth, in each case in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles consistently applied during the periods involved.  

2.5 Absence of Material Adverse Changes and Undisclosed Liabilities. Since March 28, 1997, there has not occurred or arisen, whether or not 
in the ordinary course of business: (a) any material adverse change in the business, operations, assets, financial condition, results of operations 
or properties of GSI, or (b) any event, condition or state of facts of any character that might materially and adversely affect the Assets. GSI has 
no material liabilities or obligations, fixed, accrued, contingent or otherwise, that relate to the Assets and are not fully reflected or provided for 
on, or disclosed in the notes to, the consolidated balance sheet for the fiscal year ended March 28, 1997 included in the GSI Financial 
Statements (the "1997 Balance Sheet"), except (a) liabilities and obligations incurred in or as a result of the ordinary course of business since 
March 28, 1997, none of which individually or in the aggregate has been or is materially adverse to the Assets, (b) liabilities and obligations 
permitted by or provided for or contemplated by this Agreement and (c) liabilities and obligations disclosed on the Exhibits delivered 
hereunder.  

2.6 Assets Other Than Assigned Contracts.  

2.6.1 GSI has good record and marketable title to, or a valid leasehold interest in, all of the Assets. None of the Assets is subject to any 
mortgage, pledge, lien, security interest, lease or other encumbrance.  

2.6.2 The Inventory consists of items of a quantity and quality usable or saleable in the normal course of business of GSI. All plant, equipment 
and personal property included in the Assets are in good operating condition and repair.  

2.6.3 GSI is not in material violation of any law, regulation or ordinance (including, without limitation, laws, regulations or ordinances relating 
to building, zoning, environmental, city planning, land use or similar matters) relating to its leased property located at 14200 Park Meadow 
Drive, Suite 200, Chantilly, Virginia. There are no proceedings materially affecting the present or future use of such property for the purpose 
for which it is used or the purpose for which it is intended to be used. All buildings, structures and fixtures used by GSI at such property are in 
good operating condition and repair and are insured with coverages that are usual and customary for similar properties and similar businesses.  

2.6.4 The Assets constitute substantially all of the assets used by GSI prior to the Closing in the conduct of its business. The Assets when 
delivered at the Closing shall be in a condition sufficient to enable CASub to utilize the Assets as they were utilized by GSI prior to the 
Closing. No written notice has been received by GSI from any insurance company that has issued a policy with respect to any of the Assets or 
from any board of fire underwriters (or other body exercising similar functions) claiming any defects or deficiencies or requesting the 
performance of any repairs, alterations or other work relating to the Assets.  

2.7 Assigned Contracts. GSI has delivered to CACI or made available to CACI a true and complete copy of each of the Assigned Contracts and 
all amendments thereto. All Assigned Contracts are in full force and effect, and GSI has not received any notice of default, nor is it in default, 
nor does any condition exist which with notice or the lapse of time, or both, will render GSI in default, under any of the Assigned Contracts, 
other than defaults that would not materially impair CASub's ability to assume, perform and receive the benefits of the Assigned Contracts and 
except as the parties have previously discussed with respect to the Globalstar contract number GSC-96-0064. Neither GSI nor any of its 
directors, officers, employees, representatives, or other agents has any knowledge or reason to believe or suspect that GSI will be unable to 
assign the Assigned Contracts or that any other party, including, without limitation, the Government, will not approve or consent to the 
assignment of any of the Assigned Contracts or will otherwise prohibit or materially restrict the assignment of any of the Assigned Contracts. 
To the best of GSI's knowledge, the other parties to the Assigned Contracts are in compliance with all material terms and conditions of the 
Assigned Contracts, and no party thereto has notified GSI of an intention to terminate or materially change the nature of its transaction or 
relationship with GSI or CACI thereunder.  

2.8 Compliance with Applicable Law. GSI has all requisite licenses, permits and certificates from all foreign, federal, state and local authorities 
necessary to utilize the Assets as presently utilized, and to own, lease and operate the Assets, and the business of GSI which relates to the 
Assets is not being conducted in violation of any applicable law, statute, ordinance, regulation, rule, judgment, decree, order, permit, license, 
concession, grant or other authorization of any court or of any governmental entity or authority, in any case where the violation or failure to 
comply, individually or in the aggregate, would have a material adverse effect on the Assets.  

2.9 Litigation.  

2.9.1 There is no investigation, inquiry or review by any governmental entity or authority with respect to GSI pending or, to the best of GSI's 
knowledge, threatened, nor has any governmental entity indicated to GSI an intention to conduct the same; and  

2.9.2 There is no claim, action, suit, arbitration, labor dispute, investigation or proceeding of any kind, pending or, to the best of GSI's 
knowledge, threatened, at law or in equity, before any court, arbitrator, governmental entity or authority, and there is no order, writ, injunction, 
decree or judgment of any court, arbitrator, governmental entity or authority, that involves, affects or relates to the Assets that either singly or 
in the aggregate may have any material adverse effect on the Assets.  

2.10 Tax Matters. GSI has filed all federal, state, local and foreign income, corporate excise and payroll tax returns and reports required to be 



filed by it or on its behalf. All taxes shown by such returns to be due and payable have been paid or are reflected as a liability on the GSI 
Financial Statements. All tax returns of GSI that have been examined by any governmental authority since January 1, 1994 are identified on 
Exhibit 2.10 along with the respective authority; CACI has been provided with a copy of all returns and any assessments resulting from such 
examinations and all assessments, penalties and interest have been paid in full. GSI is not a party to any tax indemnity or tax sharing 
agreement. GSI has informed CACI of a pending claim by GSI for collection from the Federal Aviation Administration of sales taxes in the 
aggregate amount of approximately $586,000. GSI warrants to CACI collection of the amount determined to be due; and, in the event that 
CACI is required to pursue or determines in the exercise of CACI's reasonable judgement that it is prudent for CACI to pursue collection 
efforts itself, GSI undertakes to pay or to reimburse CACI for the reasonable costs of collection. If GSI elects to pursue collection, CACI will 
cooperate with GSI's effort in good faith and at no material out-of-pocket cost to CACI.  

2.11 Employee Benefit Plans; Compliance with ERISA.  

2.11.1 Exhibit 2.11 sets forth all Employee Benefit Plans and Benefit Arrangements that are sponsored or contributed to by GSI or any of its 
ERISA Affiliates covering GSI's employees or former employees. True and complete copies of all such Employee Benefit Plans and Benefit 
Arrangements have been delivered to CACI.  

2.11.2 With respect to each Employee Pension Benefit Plan sponsored, maintained or contributed to by GSI or any ERISA Affiliate, or with 
respect to which GSI or any ERISA Affiliate previously had an obligation to contribute:  

(a) No such plan has been terminated so as to subject, directly or indirectly, any assets of GSI or its ERISA Affiliates to any liability, 
contingent or otherwise, or the imposition of any liens under Title IV of ERISA;  

(b) No proceeding has been initiated or threatened by any person, including the PBGC, to terminate any such plans;  

(c) No liability to the PBGC has been incurred;  

(d) No "reportable event," as defined in Section 4043 of ERISA (to the extent that the reporting of such event to the PBGC has not been 
waived) has occurred and is continuing with respect to any such plan.  

2.11.3 Neither GSI nor any of its ERISA Affiliates has at any time been obliged to contribute to any Multiemployer Plan.  

2.11.4 Neither GSI nor any of its ERISA Affiliates sponsors or has previously sponsored, maintained, contributed to or incurred an obligation 
to contribute to any Employee Benefit Plan that provides benefits described in  
Section 3(1) of ERISA to any former employee or retiree of GSI or any ERISA Affiliate of any of them, except as required under Part 6 of 
Title I of ERISA and Section 4980B of the Code.  

2.11.5 Each Benefit Plan has at all times prior hereto been maintained in all material respects in accordance with all applicable laws. GSI and 
its ERISA Affiliates have made full and timely payment of all amounts required to be contributed under the terms of any Benefit Plan that is a 
profit sharing or stock bonus plan designed to comply with the qualification requirements of Code Section 401(a).  

2.11.6 Each Benefit Plan that is intended to qualify under Section 401(a) of the Code is the subject of a favorable determination letter from the 
IRS, a copy of which has been delivered to CACI, and, to GSI's knowledge, nothing has occurred which may reasonably be expected to impair 
such determination or otherwise adversely affect the tax-qualified status of such Benefit Plan.  

2.12 Employment-Related Matters. To the extent the Assets are affected (a) GSI is in compliance with all applicable laws respecting 
employment, consulting, employment practices, wages, hours, and terms and conditions of employment; (b) GSI is not a party to any collective 
bargaining agreement or other contract or agreement with any labor organization or other representative of any of the employees GSI; (c) there 
is no labor strike, dispute, slowdown, work stoppage, lockout or other labor controversy in effect, that is pending or, to the best of GSI's 
knowledge, threatened against or otherwise affecting GSI, and GSI has not experienced any labor controversy within the past three years; (d) 
no labor representation question exists or has been raised respecting any of the employees of GSI; (e) GSI has not closed any plant or facility, 
effectuated any layoffs of employees or implemented any early retirement, separation or window program at any time from or after January 1, 
1991 except, in each case, actions involving no more than ten (10) employees at any one time, nor has GSI planned or announced any action or 
program for the future with respect to which GSI has or may have any material liability; and (f) GSI is in compliance with its obligations 
pursuant to the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act of 1988, and all other notification and bargaining obligations arising under 
any collective bargaining agreement or statute relating to employment.  

2.13 Environmental.  

2.13.1 To the extent the Assets are affected and to the best of GSI's knowledge, (a) GSI is in material compliance with all applicable 
Environmental Laws (as defined in Section 6.1), (b) GSI has not received any communication (written or oral), whether from a governmental 
authority, employee, or any other person that alleges that GSI is not in material compliance, (c) there are no circumstances that may prevent or 
interfere with material compliance in the future, and (d) all permits and other governmental authorizations currently held by GSI pursuant to the 
Environmental Laws are in full force and effect and no other permits are required by GSI.  



2.13.2 There is no Environmental Claim (as defined in Section 6.1) pending or, to the best of GSI's knowledge, threatened against or involving 
the Assets.  

2.13.3 To the best of GSI's knowledge, GSI has not undertaken or caused past or present actions, activities, circumstances, conditions, events or 
incidents, including, without limitation, the release, threatened release, emission, discharge or disposal of any Material of Environmental 
Concern (as defined in Section 6.1), that could form the basis of any Environmental Claim against CASub as the owner of the Assets.  

2.13.4 Without in any way limiting the generality of the foregoing and to the extent the Assets are affected, (a) no polychlorinated biphenyls 
are or have been used or stored at any property owned or leased by GSI or used by GSI, and (b) to the best of GSI's knowledge, no friable 
asbestos or friable asbestos-containing material is present at any property owned or leased by GSI.  

2.14 Customers. Exhibit 2.14 hereto contains a materially true and complete list of all customers of GSI during the period from January 1, 1996 
through August 1, 1997 for goods or services. None of the present listed customers has notified GSI of an intention to cease purchasing goods 
or services from GSI.  

2.15 Suppliers. Exhibit 2.15 hereto contains a materially true and complete list of all suppliers from or through whom GSI has purchased 
products or services during the period from January 1, 1996 through August 1, 1997 for use in connection with operation of GSI. None of the 
present listed suppliers has notified GSI of an intention materially to change its business relationship with GSI.  

2.16 Absence of Certain Payments. Neither GSI nor any director, officer, agent, employee or other person associated with or acting on behalf 
of any of them has used any funds of GSI for unlawful contributions, gifts, entertainment or other unlawful expenses relating to political 
activity, or made any direct or indirect unlawful payments to government officials or employees from corporate funds, or established or 
maintained any unlawful or unrecorded funds, or violated any provisions of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 or any rules or 
regulations promulgated thereunder.  

2.17 Intellectual Property. GSI owns, or is licensed or otherwise has the full right to use all Intellectual Property of material importance to the 
conduct of the business of GSI as presently conducted. Exhibit 1.1.6 lists all Intellectual Property, and all applications therefor, that are owned 
by GSI and that relate to the business of GSI. Exhibit 2.17 lists all material license agreements pursuant to which GSI is licensed under any 
Intellectual Property (the "Licensed Intellectual Property"). (a) All Intellectual Property, and each application therefor, that is identified on 
Exhibit 1.1.6 as owned by GSI is, together with the goodwill of the business associated with any marks, owned by GSI free and clear of any 
license, sublicense, agreement, judgment, order, decree, stipulation or material adverse lien or encumbrance;  
(b) to the extent the Assets are affected, the business and operations of GSI do not infringe upon or violate any Intellectual Property owned by 
any third party; (c) GSI has not received, within the past four years, notice of any claim that GSI has infringed or violated any Intellectual 
Property of any third party, or that any Intellectual Property identified on Exhibit 1.1.6 as owned by GSI is invalid or violates or infringes upon 
the rights of any third party; and (d) GSI has not sent or otherwise communicated to another person any notice, charge, claim or other assertion 
of, nor does GSI have any knowledge of, any present, impending or threatened infringement or violation by any third party of any Intellectual 
Property or Licensed Intellectual Property of GSI, or any acts of unfair competition by any third party. To the extent the Assets are affected, 
GSI maintains reasonable security measures to prevent disclosure or transfer to unauthorized persons of any trade secrets and confidential 
information that are proprietary and material to the business of GSI.  

2.18 Insurance Contracts. Exhibit 2.18 lists all contracts of insurance and indemnity (not shown in any other schedule referred to in this 
Agreement) in force at the date hereof with respect to the Assets. GSI shall keep all such insurance in full force and effect for not less than one 
year after the Closing to provide for any claims which may be made with respect to items included in the Assets for which GSI is or may be 
responsible.  

2.19 Interests of Officers. None of the officers or directors of GSI has any interest in any property, real or personal, tangible or intangible, 
including Intellectual Property used in or pertaining to the business of GSI, except for the normal rights of a shareholder, and except for rights 
under existing employee benefit plans.  

2.20 No Misrepresentations. No representation or warranty by GSI in this Agreement, nor any statement, certificate or schedule furnished or to 
be furnished by or on behalf of GSI pursuant to this Agreement nor any document or certificate delivered to CACI pursuant to this Agreement, 
when taken together with the foregoing, contains or shall contain any untrue statement of material fact or omits or shall omit to state a material 
fact necessary to make the statements not misleading.  

ARTICLE 3  

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF CACI AND CASUB  

CACI and CASub represent and warrant to GSI as follows:  

3.1 Corporate Status of CACI and CASub. CACI and CASub are corporations duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the 
laws of Delaware. CACI and CASub are duly qualified to do business as foreign corporations and are in good standing in all jurisdictions in 
which the character of the properties owned, leased or operated by each or the nature of the business transacted by each makes such 
qualification necessary, except where failure to be so qualified would not have a materially adverse effect on the business, operations, assets, 



financial condition, results of operations, properties or prospects of CACI and its Subsidiaries considered as a whole.  

3.2 Authority for Agreement. CACI and CASub have the full corporate power to own, lease and operate their properties and to conduct their 
businesses as currently owned, leased, operated and conducted and to execute, deliver, and perform this Agreement and the other transactions 
contemplated herein and to carry out their obligations hereunder. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the other 
transactions contemplated hereby have been duly and validly authorized by CACI's Board of Directors and no other corporate proceedings on 
the part of CACI or CASub including, without limitation, stockholder approval, are necessary to authorize the execution, delivery and 
performance of this Agreement and the other transactions contemplated hereby. This Agreement and the related documents have been duly 
executed and delivered by CACI and are legal, valid and binding obligations of CACI enforceable against CACI in accordance with their 
respective terms except as enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other laws affecting generally the 
enforcement of creditors' rights and except to the extent that courts may award money damages rather than specific performance of contractual 
provisions.  

3.3 No Default or Violation. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the other transactions contemplated hereby do not 
and will not (a) conflict with or result in a violation of any provision of the Certificate of Incorporation or By-Laws or other organizational 
documents of CACI or CASub, or (b) with or without the giving of notice or the lapse of time, or both, conflict with, or result in any violation 
or breach of or constitute a default under, or require the consent of any other party to, or result in any right to accelerate or the creation of any 
lien, charge or encumbrance pursuant to, or right of termination under, any provision of any note, mortgage, indenture, lease, agreement or 
other instrument, permit, concession, grant, franchise, license, judgment, order, decree, statute, law, ordinance, rule or regulation to which 
CACI or CASub is a party or by which either of them or any of their assets or properties may be bound or which is applicable to either of them 
or any of their assets or their properties. No authorization, consent, approval, license, order, or permit of, or declaration of, or filing with or 
notice to, any governmental body or authority or any other person or entity is necessary for the execution and delivery of this Agreement by 
CACI and CASub or the consummation by CACI and CASub of the other transactions contemplated hereby or to enable CACI and CASub to 
continue to conduct their business after the Closing in a manner consistent in all material respects with that in which they are currently 
conducted.  

3.4 Annual Reports. CACI has previously furnished to GSI true and complete copies of its Annual Reports for each of the three fiscal years 
ending June 30, 1994, 1995 and 1996 and its Quarterly Report for the nine months ended March 31, 1997 (the "CACI Reports"). Each of the 
balance sheets included in the CACI Reports (including any related notes and schedules) fairly presents the consolidated financial position of 
CACI as of its date and the other financial statements included in the CACI Reports (including any related notes and schedules) fairly present 
the consolidated results of operations or other information included therein of CACI for the periods or as of the dates therein set forth, in each 
case in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles consistently applied during the periods involved.  

3.5 Absence of Material Adverse Changes and Undisclosed Liabilities. Except as set forth on Exhibit 3.5 or as disclosed in the CACI Reports, 
since March 31, 1997 there has not occurred or arisen, whether or not in the ordinary course of business: (a) any material adverse change in the 
business, operations, assets, financial condition, results of operations, properties or prospects of CACI and CASub considered as a whole, or (b) 
any event, condition or state of facts of any character that might materially and adversely affect the business, operations, assets, financial 
condition, results of operations, properties or prospects of CACI and CASub considered as a whole. Except as set forth on Exhibit 3.5 or as 
disclosed in the CACI Reports, CACI and CASub, considered as a whole, have no material liabilities or obligations, fixed, accrued, contingent 
or otherwise, that are not fully reflected or provided for on, or disclosed in the notes to, the consolidated balance sheet as at March 31, 1997 
included in the CACI Reports or elsewhere in the CACI Reports, except  
(a) liabilities and obligations incurred in or as a result of the ordinary course of business since March 31, 1997, none of which individually or in 
the aggregate has been or is materially adverse to the business, operations, assets, financial condition, results of operations, properties or 
prospects of CACI and CASub considered as a whole, (b) liabilities and obligations permitted by or provided for or contemplated by this 
Agreement and (c) liabilities and obligations disclosed on the Exhibits delivered hereunder.  

3.6 No Misrepresentations. No representation or warranty by CACI or CASub in this Agreement, nor any statement, certificate or schedule 
furnished or to be furnished by or on behalf of CACI or CASub pursuant to this Agreement nor any document or certificate delivered to GSI 
pursuant to this Agreement, when taken together with the foregoing, contains or shall contain any untrue statement of material fact or omits or 
shall omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements not misleading.  

3.7 Employment Offers. Prior to the Closing, CACI and CASub have made offers of employment to substantially all of the employees of GSI.  

ARTICLE 4  

COVENANTS  

It is further agreed as follows:  

4.1 Further Assurances. Subject to terms and conditions herein provided and to the fiduciary duty of each party's Board of Directors and 
officers, each of the parties agrees to use its best efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all action and to do, or cause to be done, all things 
necessary, proper or advisable under applicable laws and regulations to consummate and make effective the Agreement and the other 
transactions contemplated by this Agreement. In case at any time any further action, including the obtaining of waivers and consents under 
material contracts and leases, is necessary or desirable to carry out the purposes of this Agreement, the proper officers and directors of each 
party to this Agreement are hereby directed and authorized to use their efforts to effectuate all required action. GSI agrees to use its best efforts 



to effect assignments of all the Assigned Contracts, and further agrees to provide all documentation necessary to effect such assignments, 
including, without limitation, all instruments, certifications, requests, legal opinions, audited financial statements, and other documents 
required by Part 42 of the Federal Acquisition Regulations to effect an assignment of any contract with the Government.  

4.2 Assignment of Assigned Contracts.  

4.2.1 With respect to any Assigned Contract or any claim, right or benefit arising thereunder or resulting therefrom GSI, CACI and CASub 
shall use their respective best efforts to obtain the written consent of the other parties to such Assigned Contract for the assignment or novation 
thereof to CASub or written confirmation from such parties reasonably satisfactory in form and substance to CACI and GSI that such consent 
is not required. As soon as practicable following the date hereof, with respect to each Assigned Contract to which the United States government 
or an agency thereof is a party, GSI shall either obtain written confirmation reasonably satisfactory in form and substance to CACI and GSI 
that novation of such Assigned Contract is not required or submit to the relevant responsible contracting officer a written request that the 
United States government or the relevant agency enter into a government contract novation with GSI with respect to such Assigned Contract. 
GSI shall take in this regard all actions required or customary under the Federal Acquisition Regulations. Except as provided in the 
immediately preceding sentence, in no event shall GSI, CACI or CASub or any of their respective Affiliates be obligated to pay any money to 
the United States government, any agency thereof or any other person or entity or to offer or grant other financial or other accommodations in 
connection with obtaining any novation, assignment, consent or waiver.  

4.2.2 Until such novation, assignment, consent or waiver is obtained with respect to any Assigned Contract to which the United States 
government or an agency thereof is a party, GSI, CACI and CASub will cooperate in an arrangement reasonably satisfactory to GSI and CACI 
under which CASub will obtain, to the extent practicable, the claims, rights and benefits and assume the corresponding obligations thereunder 
in accordance with this Agreement, including, without limitation, subcontracting, sub-licensing or sub-leasing to the benefit of CASub, with 
CASub assuming GSI's obligations, any and all claims, rights and benefits of GSI against a third party thereto.  

4.2.3 The ADTN Contract  

4.2.3.1 The parties understand and agree that, after the Closing Date, negotiations with the Government in connection with the ADTN 
Contract) to finalize the pricing of network management services for the period from July 1, 1997 through the remainder of the ADTN Contract 
(the "Go Forward Period") shall be the responsibility of CACI and CASub and that CACI and/or CASub shall bear the cost of conducting such 
negotiations. CACI and CASub shall keep GSI informed as to the progress of those negotiations and shall consult with GSI concerning any 
agreement or other final action resulting from those negotiations. GSI shall use its best efforts to assist CACI and CASub with such 
negotiations from time to time upon the request of CACI and/or CASub with such negotiations from time to time upon the request of CACI 
and/or CASub, provided that GSI shall not be obligated to pay any money to any person or entity or to incur any material out-of-pocket 
expenses in connection with such assistance. It is further agreed that GSI shall make available any of its employees and/or records that may be 
reasonably required by CACI or CASub in connection with this matter. In order to assist CACI or CASub with such responsibility, GSI agrees 
to authorize its outside counsel involved in this matter to represent CACI and/or CASub for purposes related to the ADTN Contract. The 
parties hereby waive any claim of conflict of interest in connection with such representation and further agree to execute a final joint defense 
agreement or other instrument which will permit such counsel to share any required information with CACI and/or CASub without waiving 
any claim of attorney-client or attorney work privilege.  

4.2.3.2 GSI further agrees that if CACI and/or CASub filed (or, if the novation of the ADTN Contract shall not have occurred prior to March 
31, 1998, requests GSI in writing to file) a claim or lawsuit against the Government relating to the pricing of network management services 
during the Go Forward Period under the ADTN Contract as a result of a breakdown of the ongoing negotiations (the "Claim/Lawsuit"), then 
GSI shall reimburse CACI and/or CASub for the out-of-pocket costs (including, without limitation, attorneys' fees) incurred by CACI and/or 
CASub in connection with the Claim/Lawsuit; provided, however, that (a) GSI shall not be responsible for any such reimbursement if the 
Government has agreed to pay (or is paying) at least $330,000 per month for network management services during the Go Forward Period and 
(b) GSI's total reimbursement obligation under this Section 4.2.3 shall not exceed $100,000.  

4.2.3.3 In the event of any conflict between the provisions of this Section 4.2.3 and the provisions of Section 4.2.1 or Section 4.2.2, then the 
provisions of this Section 4.2.3 shall control.  

4.3 Customers. During the twelve-month period commencing on the Closing, GSI shall inform CACI promptly of all inquiries from potential 
customers concerning the possible purchase of any product or service provided by GSI. In this connection, GSI shall provide CACI with the 
name and address of each potential customer and the substance of each inquiry. GSI shall refer each potential customer who shall make any 
inquiry to CACI. During the period, GSI shall use its best efforts to introduce CACI to GSI's customers for the products and services of GSI 
and to cooperate with and assist CACI in establishing a relationship with each customer.  

4.4 Returns of Defective Goods. If any goods sold by GSI prior to the Closing are returned to CACI or CASub by the customer, or proposed to 
be returned, during the twelve-month period after the Closing because of defects in materials or workmanship or other noncompliance with 
specifications, CACI shall give notice to GSI of the return or proposed return and shall discuss with GSI the nature of the defect or 
noncompliance and the disposition of any goods that are so returned or are to be so returned. Following the discussion and any investigation 
CACI shall deem appropriate, CACI may, at its option, provide a refund or allowance to the customer in an amount reasonably consistent with 
CACI's or GSI's prior practice. If CACI provides a refund or allowance to a customer with respect to any returned merchandise, CACI may 
cause the merchandise to be returned to GSI or GSI's designee and CACI shall cooperate with GSI's efforts to resell or dispose thereof. If the 
aggregate amount so refunded and allowed by CACI for the merchandise exceeds $5,000, then GSI shall reimburse CACI for the excess, less 



the reasonable residual value, if any, of any of the returned goods retained by CACI and not delivered to GSI.  

4.5 Excluded Assets. Within thirty days after the Closing, GSI, at its own expense and in compliance with all applicable laws, shall remove all 
Excluded Assets from any premises to be transferred to or occupied by CASub.  

4.6 Defense of Claims and Litigation. At all times from and after the Closing, GSI, CACI and CASub shall consult, confer and cooperate in 
good faith on a reasonable basis with the other party (including, without limitation, the making available of witnesses and cooperation in 
discovery proceedings) in the conduct or defense of any claim, litigation or proceeding against either party or its Affiliates by any third party 
which relates to any of the Assets or Assumed Liabilities, or any matter which, directly or indirectly, arises therefrom, whether known at the 
Closing or arising thereafter. To the extent the indemnification provisions of this Agreement or of any other document delivered in connection 
with the transactions contemplated hereby apply to any such conduct or defense, they shall control as to the payment of costs and expen ses.  

4.7 Retention of Books and Records. For a period of seven years after the Closing, each party shall retain its books and records relating to the 
Assets and the Assumed Liabilities. If any party desires to obtain any such books and records it may do so by notifying the other party, in 
writing, at any time prior to the end of such seven-year period. The notice must specify the documents which the requesting party wishes to 
obtain. The parties shall then promptly arrange for the delivery of copies of such documents. All out-of-pocket costs associated with the 
delivery of the requested documents shall be paid by the requesting party.  

4.8 Employees.  

4.8.1 CACI and CASub shall offer to hire the employees of GSI agreed upon by GSI, CACI and CASub management effective as of the 
Closing on terms and conditions that are substantially comparable to the terms and conditions of employment of such employees with GSI 
immediately prior to the Closing. GSI shall not interfere with CACI or CASub in their efforts to employ particular employees of GSI.  

4.8.2 At or before the Closing GSI shall pay all compensation accrued and payable as of the Closing to all of its present and former employees 
and independent contractors who work or worked in GSI, including, without limitation, straight time and overtime pay, fringe benefits, 
severance pay, disability payments and payments for medical, dental, life insurance, workmen's compensation and benefits under any Benefit 
Plan that are payable at Closing, and shall pay over to the appropriate governmental agencies or other appropriate persons or entities all 
withheld taxes, social security and other similar payments accrued and payable as of the Closing with respect to such present and former 
employees and independent contractors through the Closing, except for amounts and taxes included in the Assumed Liabilities. Notwithstandi 
ng the foregoing, any employee of GSI who has accrued vacation leave for vacation not yet taken ("Vacation Leave") as of the Closing Date 
may elect either to receive a payment equal to the applicable wages (less applicable withholding for federal, state and local income and 
employment taxes) for such Vacation Leave, as determined by GSI, or to retain credit for such Vacation Leave for purposes of his or her 
employment with CACI or CASub. In the event the employee elects to receive payment for his Vacation Leave, such payment shall be made by 
GSI no later than the Closing Date. In the event the employee elects to retain credit for such Vacation Leave, then CACI and CASub agree to 
grant credit for such Vacation Leave under its vacation policy, without regard to any limit on vacation accruals that may be set forth in such 
policy.  

4.8.3 After the Closing, GSI shall pay all amounts due from GSI to all of its present and former employees and independent contractors who 
work or worked in GSI for (a) medical, dental, life insurance and other welfare benefits due under any Benefit Plan for claims incurred before 
the Closing and  
(b) for workmen's compensation claims incurred before or after the Closing for injuries that occurred prior to the Closing. Except as otherwise 
agreed between GSI and the relevant employee and as provided in Section 4.8.2, GSI shall pay or shall cause to be paid any benefits that 
become payable under any Benefit Plan on or after the Closing to any employee of GSI who accepts the offer of employment extended by 
CACI and CASub ("Transferred Employee") in accordance with the terms of any such Benefit Plan. CACI and CASub agree to cooperate, in a 
complete, timely and diligent manner to provide GSI or its ERISA Affiliates with such service and census data, including prompt notification 
of the termination of employment of any Transferred Employee, as may be required by GSI or any of them for the purposes of effecting 
distribution of benefits to which any Transferred Employee may be entitled under any such Benefit Plan.  

4.8.4 Effective at the Closing, CACI and CASub shall offer coverage under a comprehensive group health plan ("Group Health Plan") to all 
Transferred Employees, taking into account for eligibility purposes under such plan the service accrued by any such individual as an employee 
of GSI or its ERISA Affiliates. CACI and CASub shall waive all exclusions and limitations for preexisting conditions under such Group Health 
Plan for all Transferred Employees and their dependents who were covered under a group health plan of GSI or its ERISA Affiliates prior to 
Closing. For purposes of participation in such Group Health Plan, each Transferred Employee shall also receive credit for all payments made 
toward their annual deductible under the group health plan of GSI or its ERISA Affiliates in which such Transferred Employee was a 
participant immediately prior to the Closing.  

4.8.5 Effective at the Closing, Transferred Employees will immediately be eligible to participate in the CACI $MART [401K] Plan. CACI and 
CASub will accept the direct rollover of the Transferred Employee's account balance in the Infonet Matched Asset Plan ("GSI Plan") including 
any outstanding loan balances. At the request of a Transferred Employee, the Trustees of the GSI Plan will assign the Transferred Employee's 
loan note to Franklin Templeton Trust Co., Trustees for the CACI $MART [401K] Plan.  

4.8.6 For purposes of calculating service credits for eligibility and vesting under the Employee Benefit Plans and Benefit Arrangements 
maintained by CACI or CASub (or the ERISA Affiliates of either of them) for the benefit of the Transferred Employees, CACI or CASub (or 
the ERISA Affiliates of either of them), as applicable, shall grant to any Transferred Employee credit for all service earned as an employee of 



GSI.  

4.9 Bulk Transfer Compliance. GSI covenants and agrees to pay and discharge promptly and when due, and in all respects to defend CACI and 
CASub against, all claims which are asserted against CACI or CASub by reason of noncompliance with the bulk transfer provisions of the 
Uniform Commercial Code or similar statutory provisions applicable to this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereunder at the 
Closing. To the extent the indemnification provisions of this Agreement or of any other document delivered in connection with the transactions 
contemplated hereby apply to any such conduct or defense, they shall control as to the payment of costs and expenses.  

4.10 Indemnities.  

4.10.1 Indemnification of CACI. Subject to the limitations set forth in this Agreement, GSI shall indemnify and hold harmless CACI and 
CASub and their respective successors by merger or other operation of law (the "Successors"), directors and officers from and against all 
losses, liabilities, claims, damages, costs or expenses (including, without limitation, reasonable expenses of investigation and reasonable 
attorneys' fees and disbursements) suffered, incurred or paid:  

4.10.1.1 that would not have been suffered, incurred or paid if all the representations, warranties, covenants and agreements of GSI in this 
Agreement or any document delivered by GSI or Infonet pursuant to this Agreement (including without limitation the Subcontracts and the 
letter agreement relating to the Globalstar contract) or in any other instrument or document described in Section 5.2 hereof had been (with 
respect to representations and warranties) true and had been (with respect to covenants and agreements) fully performed and fulfilled;  

4.10.1.2 under the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act of 1988 ("WARN") or similar law as the result of any "plant closing" or 
"mass layoff," within the meaning of WARN, that occurs at or prior to Closing; 4.10.1.3 as a result of any "Action" (as hereinafter defined) 
arising out of or relating to the conduct of the business of GSI before or after the Closing or any liability or obligation, or alleged liability, of 
GSI not specifically assumed by CACI under this Agreement; and  

4.10.1.4 as a result of any Action which arises out of or relates to the failure of GSI to pay, promptly and when due, any tax, fee or other charge 
which shall become due or shall have accrued on account of the use, acquisition or ownership of GSI of any of the Assets or any tax, fee or 
other charge GSI is obligated to pay, or to reimburse CACI or CASub for, hereunder on account of any sale of the Assets or the transactions 
contemplated hereby.  

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if GSI shall be required to indemnify CACI, CASub or any of their Subsidiaries or any of 
their respective directors, officers or Successors with respect to the same item of damage and amount, the satisfaction of such indemnity to one 
of them shall discharge GSI's obligations to the other to the extent of the amount paid.  

4.10.2 Indemnification of GSI. Subject to the limitations set forth in this Agreement, CACI and CASub shall indemnify and hold harmless GSI 
and its directors, officers and Successors from and against all losses, liabilities, claims, damages, costs or expenses (including, without 
limitation, reasonable expenses of investigation and reasonable attorney's fees and disbursements) suffered, incurred or paid:  

4.10.2.1 that would not have been suffered, incurred or paid if all the representations, warranties, covenants and agreements of CACI and 
CASub in this Agreement or in any other instrument or document furnished to GSI pursuant to Section 5.3 hereof had been (with respect to 
representations and warranties) true and had been (with respect to covenants and agreements) fully performed and fulfilled; or  

4.10.2.2 as a result of any Action arising out of or relating to the conduct of business involving some or all of the Assets or the Assumed 
Liabilities as of or after the Closing or to any failure of CACI or CASub to perform any liability specifically assumed by it pursuant to this 
Agreement or any document delivered by CACI or CASub pursuant to this Agreement (including without limitation the Subcontracts and the 
letter agreement relating to the Globalstar contract).  

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if CACI or CASub shall be required to indemnify GSI or any of its directors, officers or 
Successors with respect to the same item of damage and amount, such payment or satisfaction of such indemnity to one of them shall discharge 
the obligations of CACI and CASub to the other to the extent of the amount paid.  

4.10.3 Third Party Claims. The obligations and liabilities of a party from which indemnification is sought (an "Indemnifying Party") by a 
person or entity seeking indemnification (an "Indemnified Party") under this Section 4.10 with respect to claims resulting from the assertion of 
liability by third parties shall be subject to the following conditions:  

4.10.3.1 The Indemnified Party shall give written notice to the Indemnifying Party of the nature of the assertion of liability by a third party and 
the amount thereof promptly after the Indemnified Party learns of such assertion. The foregoing notwithstanding, failure of an Indemnified 
Party to comply with its obligations under this Section 4.10.3 shall affect its right to indemnity only to the extent the Indemnifying Party 
demonstrates actual damage caused by such failure.  

4.10.3.2 If any claim, action, suit or proceeding (an "Action") is brought by a third party against an Indemnified Party, the Action shall be 
defended by the Indemnifying Party and such defense shall include all appeals or reviews which counsel for the Indemnifying Party shall deem 
appropriate. Until the Indemnifying Party shall have assumed the defense of any such Action, or if the Indemnified Party shall have reasonably 
concluded that there are likely to be defenses available to the Indemnified Party that are different from or in addition to those available to the 



Indemnifying Party (in which case the Indemnifying Party shall not be entitled to assume the defense of such Action), all legal or other 
expenses reasonably incurred by the Indemnified Party shall be borne by the Indemnifying Party and shall be repaid to the Indemnifying Party 
by the Indemnified Party if it is finally determined that the Indemnifying Party was not liable or responsible for the claim underlying the 
Action.  

4.10.3.3 In any Action initiated by a third party and defended by the Indemnifying Party, (a) the Indemnified Party shall have the right to be 
represented by advisory counsel and accountants, at its own expense, (b) the Indemnifying Party shall keep the Indemnified Party fully 
informed as to the status of such Action at all stages thereof, whether or not the Indemnified Party is represented by its own counsel, (c) the 
Indemnified Party shall make available to the Indemnifying Party, and its attorneys and accountants, all books and records of the Indemnified 
Party relating to such Action, and (d) the parties shall render to each other such assistance (including, without limitation, as contemplated by 
Section 4.6) as may be reasonably required for the proper and adequate defense of such Action.  

4.10.3.4 In any Action initiated by a third party and defended by the Indemnifying Party, the Indemnifying Party shall not make any settlement 
of any claim without the written consent of the Indemnified Party, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. Without 
limiting the generality of the foregoing, it shall not be deemed unreasonable to withhold consent to a settlement involving injunctive or other 
equitable relief against the Indemnified Party or its assets, employees or business.  

4.10.4 Claims. If a claim is to be made by a party pursuant to Section 4.10.1, 4.10.2 or 4.10.3 hereunder against the other party, the claiming 
party shall give written notice (a "Claim Notice") to the other party as soon as practicable after the claiming party becomes aware of any fact, 
condition or event which may give rise to a claim for which indemnification may be sought under this Section 4.10.  

4.10.5 Limitation of Liability. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, GSI shall not be liable to CACI or CASub, and CACI and 
CASub shall not be liable to GSI, in connection with this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement for any 
indemnification or other form of obligation (i) unless (A) the claim is ripe, (B) the Claim Notice delivered in connection with such claim 
describes an actual occurrence giving rise to such claim and (C) the Claim Notice is received by the party from which indemnification is sought 
on or before June 30, 2000 and (ii) unless and until the aggregate amount of liability for any reason exceeds $25,000 (provided that thereafter 
the Indemnifying Party shall make indemnification thereunder for the aggregate amount of such liability, including, without limitation, such 
$25,000). The total amount of GSI's obligation to indemnify or otherwise pay CACI, CASub or any other person or entity for any reason in 
connection with this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall not exceed, in aggregate, the Purchase Price.  



Article 5  

CONDITIONS PRECEDENT  

5.1 Conditions Precedent to the Obligations of Each Party. The obligations of GSI, CACI and CASub to effect the transactions contemplated 
by this Agreement shall be subject to the fulfillment at or prior to the Closing of the following conditions:  

5.1.1 No injunction or restraining or other order issued by a court of competent jurisdiction that prohibits or materially restricts the 
consummation of any transaction contemplated by this Agreement or any other material transaction contemplated by this Agreement shall be in 
effect, and no action or proceeding shall have been commenced or threatened in writing seeking any injunction or restraining or other order that 
seeks to prohibit, restrain, invalidate or set aside consummation of the Acquisition.  

5.1.2 There shall not have been any action taken, and no statute, rule or regulation shall have been enacted, by any state or federal government 
agency that would prohibit or materially restrict the Acquisition.  

5.1.3 All filings with and notifications to, and all approvals and authorizations of, third parties (including, without limitation, governmental 
entities and authorities) required for the consummation of the Acquisition shall have been made or obtained and all such approvals and 
authorizations obtained shall be effective and shall not have been suspended, revoked or stayed by action of any governmental entity or 
authority.  

5.1.4 All applicable waiting periods (and any extensions thereof) under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as 
amended, shall have expired or otherwise been terminated.  

5.2 Conditions to Obligations of CACI and CASub to Effect the Acquisition. The obligation of CACI and CASub to effect the transactions 
contemplated by this Agreement shall be subject to the fulfillment at or prior to the Closing of the following additional conditions:  

5.2.1 CACI, CASub, and Infonet Services Corporation ("ISC") shall have entered into contractual arrangements satisfactory to CACI for the 
provision by ISC to CASub of all services required in support of the contractual commitments of GSI assumed by CASub pursuant to this 
Agreement and for indemnification by ISC with respect to all the matters as to which GSI is to provide indemnification pursuant to Section 
4.10;  

5.2.2 CACI, CASub and ISC shall have entered into contractual arrangements satisfactory to CACI with respect to the employment of the 
senior executives of GSI identified in Exhibit 5.2.2;  

5.2.3 GSI shall have delivered to CASub all appropriate deeds and instruments of transfer, conveyance, sale and assignment in respect of the 
Assets, consisting of bills of sale, assignments, confirmation of notices sent to third parties holding any such Assets, and such other good and 
sufficient instruments of conveyance and transfer (including, without limitation, any consents thereto by third parties necessary to make the 
same valid and effective), in such form and containing such terms and provisions as CACI may reasonably request, including, without 
limitation, the documents listed in  
Section 1.7.2.1.1;  

5.2.4 CACI and CASub shall have received an opinion of Infonet's general counsel, on behalf of Infonet and GSI in form and substance 
satisfactory to counsel to CACI, dated the date of the Closing, to the effect set forth in Exhibit 5.2.4;  

5.2.5 Since March 31, 1997, there shall not have been any material adverse change of any nature in the business, operations, assets, financial 
condition, results of operations, properties or prospects of GSI that affects the Assets.  

5.2.6 CACI shall not have any knowledge or reason to believe or suspect that GSI will be unable to assign the Assigned Contracts or that any 
other party, including, without limitation, the Government, will not approve or consent to the assignment of any of the Assigned Contracts or 
will otherwise prohibit or materially restrict the assignment of any of the Assigned Contracts; and  

5.2.7 CACI and CASub shall have received from GSI all other documents consistent with the purposes of this Agreement, in form and 
substance satisfactory to CACI and its counsel, as CACI shall have reasonably requested (other than additional opinions of counsel).  

5.3 Conditions to Obligations of GSI to Effect the Acquisition. The obligation of GSI to effect the Acquisition shall be subject to the fulfillment 
at or prior to the Closing of the following additional conditions:  

5.3.1 GSI shall have received an opinion of CACI's general counsel in form and substance satisfactory to counsel to GSI, dated the date of the 
Closing, to the effect set forth in Exhibit 5.3.1; and  

5.3.2 GSI shall have received from CACI and CASub all such other documents consistent with the purposes of this Agreement, in form and 
substance satisfactory to GSI and its counsel, as GSI shall have reasonably requested (other than additional opinions of counsel).  



ARTICLE 6  

DEFINITIONS AND MISCELLANEOUS  

6.1 Definitions of Certain Terms. As used herein, the following terms shall have the following meanings:  

1997 Balance Sheet: as defined in Section 2.5 hereof.  

Action: any claim, action, suit or proceeding.  

ADTN Contract: as defined in Section 1.8.2 hereof.  

Affiliate: with respect to any entity, any person or entity that controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with such entity.  

Assets: as defined in Section 1.1 hereof.  

Asset Documents: as defined in Section 1.1.4 hereof.  

Assigned Contracts: as defined in Section 1.1.7 hereof.  

Assumed Liabilities: as defined in Section 1.3 hereof.  

Benefit Arrangement: any material benefit arrangement that is not an Employee Benefit Plan, including (i) any employment or consulting 
agreement, (ii) any arrangement providing for insurance coverage or workers' compensation benefits, (iii) any incentive or deferred bonus 
arrangement, (iv) any arrangement providing termination allowance, severance or similar benefits,  
(v) any equity compensation plan, and (vi) any deferred compensation plan.  

Benefit Plan: any Employee Benefit Plan or Benefit Arrangement that is sponsored or contributed to by GSI or any of its ERISA Affiliates 
covering GSI's employees or former employees.  

CACI Reports: as defined in Section 3.4 hereof.  

Closing: as defined in Section 1.7 hereof.  

Code: as defined in Section 1.7.2.1.3 hereof.  

Employee Benefit Plan: any employee benefit plan, as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA.  

Employee Pension Benefit Plan: any employee pension benefit plan as defined in  
Section 3(2) of ERISA that is subject to regulation under Title IV of ERISA, other than a Multiemployer Plan.  

Environmental Claim: any written notice by any governmental agency alleging potential liability (including, without limitation, potential 
liability for investigatory costs, cleanup costs, governmental response costs, natural resources damages, property damages, personal injuries, 
fines or penalties) arising out of, based on or resulting from (a) the presence, or release into the environment, of any Material of Environmental 
Concern at any location, whether or not owned by CACI or any of its Subsidiaries or (b) circumstances forming the basis of any violation, or 
alleged violation, of any Environmental Law.  

Environmental Contamination: (a) an occurrence occurring or a condition existing relating to GSI at or before the Closing if such occurrence or 
condition was in violation of any Environmental Law or Environmental Permit existing at or before the Closing and if CACI or CASub is 
specifically required to take remedial action with respect thereto by a governmental agency or a negotiated agreement, decree or clean-up plan 
with a governmental agency, regardless of when such occurrence or condition is discovered or when such remedial action is required, (b) any 
use, disposal or discharge of Materials of Environmental Concern by GSI before the Closing resulting in liability to a third party, regardless of 
when such use, disposal or discharge is discovered or (c) an occurrence occurring or condition existing which is caused by GSI at or before the 
Closing if CACI or CASub investigates or takes remedial action with respect thereto as required by applicable Environmental Laws.  

Environmental Laws: mean all Federal, state and local laws, rules and regulations relating to pollution or protection of the environment, or 
occupational or human health and safety, including, without limitation, laws, rules and regulations relating to handling, processing, storage, 
recycling, emission, discharge, disposal, treatment, transportation, release or threatened release of any Material of Environmental Concern or 
other waste or material into ambient air, surface water, ground water or land, including, without limitation, the Comprehensive Environmental 
Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (42 U.S.C. 9601 et seq.), the Hazardous Material Transportation Act (49 U.S.C. 1801 et seq.), the 
Federal Water Pollution Control Act (38 U.S.C. 1251 et seq.), the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (42 U.S.C. 6901 et seq.), the Clean 
Air Act (42 U.S.C. 7401 et seq.), the Toxic Substances Control Act (15 U.S.C. 2601 et seq.), the Occupational Safety and Health Act (29 



U.S.C. 651 et seq.), the Emergency Planning and Community Right to Know Act (42 U.S.C. 11001 et seq.), the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide 
and Rodenticide Act (7 U.S.C. 135 et seq.), and the Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act (15 U.S.C. 2000 et seq.), in each case as these laws have 
been amended or supplemented.  

Environmental Permit: all certificates, consents, permits, licenses, authorizations and approvals required under or relating to any Environmental 
Law.  

ERISA: the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.  

ERISA Affiliate: any person that, together with GSI as of the relevant measuring date under ERISA, was or is required to be treated as single 
employer under Section 414 of the Code.  

Government: the federal government of the United States of America.  

GSI Financial Statements: as defined in Section 2.4 hereof.  

GSI Plans: as defined in Section 4.8.5 hereof.  

Indemnified Party: as defined in Section 4.10.3 hereof.  

Indemnifying Party: as defined in Section 4.10.3 hereof.  

Intellectual Property: as defined in Section 1.1.6 hereof.  

Inventory: as defined in Section 1.1.1 hereof.  

ISC: as defined in Section 5.2.1 hereof.  

Licensed Intellectual Property: as defined in Section 2.17 hereof.  

Materials of Environmental Concern: those substances or constituents which are regulated by, or form the basis of liability under, any 
Environmental Law.  

Multiemployer Plan: a multiemployer plan, as defined in Section 3(37) and 4001(a)(3) of ERISA.  

Orders: as defined in Section 1.1.8 hereof.  

PBGC: the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation.  

Prepaid Expenses: as defined in Section 1.1.5 hereof.  

Purchase Price: as defined in Section 1.5 hereof.  

SEC: the Securities and Exchange Commission, or any governmental agency succeeding to its functions.  

Subsidiary: any corporation, association, or other business entity a majority (by number of votes) of the shares of capital stock (or other voting 
interests) of which is owned by GSI, CACI or their respective Subsidiaries.  

Successors: as defined in Section 4.10.1 hereof.  

Tangible Assets: as defined in Section 1.1.2 hereof.  
6.2 Brokerage. Each party shall be solely responsible for payment of any fee or charge of any broker, finder, financial advisor or intermediary 
engaged, employed, or consulted by that party in connection with negotiations or discussions incident to the execution of this Agreement or any 
of the transactions contemplated hereby.  

6.3 Survival of Representations and Warranties. Notwithstanding any investigation conducted before or after the Closing, and notwithstanding 
any knowledge or notice of any fact or circumstance which either CACI or GSI may have as the result of such investigation or otherwise, 
CACI, CASub and GSI shall each be entitled to rely upon the representations, warranties and covenants of the other in this Agreement. Each of 
the representations, warranties and covenants contained in this Agreement, made in any document delivered hereunder or otherwise made in 
connection with the Closing hereunder shall survive the Closing and shall expire on June 30, 2000.  



6.4 Expenses. Each party shall pay its own expenses, including the fees of attorneys, accountants, investment bankers, valuation experts and 
others, in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, whether or not they are completed, except that in the event of a conflict 
between this provision and the indemnification provisions of this Agreement, the indemnification provisions shall control.  

6.5 Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia.  

6.6 Notice. All notices and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed given if delivered by hand sent via a 
reputable nationwide courier service or mailed by registered or certified mail (return receipt requested) to the parties at the following addresses 
(or at such other address for a party as shall be specified by like notice) and shall be deemed given on the date on which so hand-delivered or 
on the third business day following the date on which so mailed or sent:  

To CACI and CASub:  

CACI International Inc  
1100 North Glebe Road  
Arlington, VA 22201  
Attention: Dr. J. P. London, Chairman  

With copies to:  

Jeffrey P. Elefante  
Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary CACI International Inc  
1100 North Glebe Road  
Arlington, VA 22201  

David W. Walker, Esq.  
Foley, Hoag & Eliot LLP  
One Post Office Square  
Boston, MA 02109  

To GSI:  

Government Systems, Inc.  
14200 Park Meadow Drive, Suite 200 Chantilly, VA 20151-2219  
Attention: President  
With copies to:  

Infonet Services Corporation  
2100 East Grand Avenue  
El Segundo, CA 90245  
Attention: Dr. Ernest U. Gambaro, Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary  

Paul A. Galleberg, Esq.  
Latham & Watkins  
633 West Fifth Street, Suite 4000  
Los Angeles, California 90071-2007  

6.7 Entire Agreement, Assignability, etc. This Agreement (a) constitutes the entire agreement, and supersedes all other prior agreements and 
understandings, both written and oral, between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof, (b) is not intended to confer upon any 
person other than the parties hereto any rights or remedies hereunder, except as otherwise expressly provided herein, and (c) shall not be 
assignable by operation of law or otherwise. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of, and be binding upon, the parties hereto and their 
respective legal representatives and Successors, and shall inure to the benefit of the Indemnified Parties and their respective legal 
representatives and Successors. All Exhibits mentioned in this Agreement shall be attached to this Agreement, and shall form an integral part 
hereof. All capitalized terms defined in this Agreement which are used in any Exhibit shall, unless the context otherwise requires, have the 
same meaning therein as given herein.  

6.8 Cumulative Rights and Remedies. GSI, CACI and CASub each acknowledge that money damages alone will not adequately compensate 
the other party for breach of a party's obligations under this Agreement and, therefore, agree that in the event of the breach or threatened breach 
of any such obligation, in addition to all other remedies available, at law, in equity or otherwise, each party shall be entitled to injunctive relief 
compelling specific performance of, or other compliance with, the terms of this Agreement. All rights and remedies under this Agreement are 
cumulative and are in addition to and not exclusive of any other rights and remedies provided hereunder, under any other document delivered 
as part of a transaction contemplated hereby or otherwise by agreement or law, at equity or otherwise. Without limiting the generality of the 
foregoing, the parties expressly recognize that specific performance is not either party's sole remedy for any reason hereunder.  



6.9 Severability. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provisions of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any 
other provisions of this Agreement, each of which shall remain in full force and effect.  

6.10 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, all of which together shall constitute one and the same 
Agreement.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed this Agreement as of the date first above written.  

CACI International Inc  

[SEAL]  

 

CACI, Inc.  

[SEAL]  

 

Government Systems, Inc.  

[SEAL]  

 

By:              /s/ 
   ------------------------------------ 
   Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 

By:              /s/ 
   ------------------------------------ 
   Chief Executive Officer 

By:              /s/ 
   ------------------------------------ 
 
   Authorized signer 



Exhibit 99.2  
CLOSING AGREEMENT  

This Agreement (the "Closing Agreement") is entered into as of October 31, 1997 among CACI International Inc, a Delaware corporation 
("CACI"), CACI, Inc., a Delaware corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of CACI ("CASub"), and Infonet Services Corporation, a 
Delaware corporation ("Infonet").  

RECITALS  

WHEREAS, pursuant to an Acquisition Agreement of even date herewith (the "Acquisition Agreement") among CACI, CASub and 
Government Systems, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("GSI"), CACI is acquiring certain assets and assuming certain liabilities of GSI;  

WHEREAS, GSI is a wholly owned subsidiary of Infonet; and  

WHEREAS, it is a condition to the obligations of CACI and CASub under the Acquisition Agreement that CACI, CASub and Infonet enter 
into this Closing Agreement.  

AGREEMENT  

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the above premises, the mutual promises and covenants set forth below, and other good and valuable 
consideration, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, CACI, CASub and Infonet agree as follows:  

1. Performance of Obligations. Infonet shall cause GSI fully and faithfully to perform each and all of GSI' s covenants contained in the 
Acquisition Agreement.  

2. Non-Competition Agreement. For a period of three years after the Closing Date, neither Infonet nor any of its Subsidiaries, without CACI's 
prior written consent, shall participate, directly or indirectly, as owner, stockholder, manager, partner, agent, consultant, representative or 
otherwise in assisting any business, firm or corporation in the provision of Competing Services. For purposes of this Section 2, "Competing 
Services" shall mean (i) contesting or seeking to overturn any of the Assigned Contracts and (ii) providing network configuration management, 
network optimization, simulation and modeling or technology insertion analysis services to any system integrator which is competing against 
CACI for a CACI Desired Contract. "CACI Desired Contract" shall mean a contract or assignment from any branch or agency of the United 
States or any state or local government in the United States for which CACI shall have notified Infonet in advance CACI intends to compete 
and for which CACI actually is in competition. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the provisions of this Section 2 shall not bind in any way any 
stockholder of Infonet and shall not limit Infonet in the sale of its standard commercial products or services in any way.  

3. Executive Retention. CACI has entered into agreements with certain persons who were employees of GSI immediately before the Closing, 
providing for their employment after the closing by CACI, CASub, or one or more other subsidiaries of CACI, and further providing for certain 
payments to the employees as additional compensation for remaining in CACI's employ for specified periods after the Closing. In order to fund 
CACI's obligation to make those additional payments, Infonet shall cause GSI to pay to CACI at Closing the sum of One Million One Hundred 
Thousand Dollars ($1,100,000) (the "Payment") by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account specified by CACI. This 
payment obligation shall be Infonet's and GSI's sole responsibility to CACI in connection with such employees. In the event that CACI 
terminates any such employee for "cause", as that term is defined in the employment agreement between CACI and such employee, CACI 
hereby agrees to repay to Infonet any portion (or all, if applicable) of the Payment allocable to that employee which has not been actually paid 
to such employee pursuant to such agreements. CACI shall make such repayment to Infonet by wire transfer of immediately available funds 
within ten days after the effective date of the employee's termination.  

4. Intellectual Property. Infonet is concurrently granting to CACI intellectual property rights as set forth in the "Assignment of Intellectual 
Property" and the "Assignment of Third-Party Intellectual Property" delivered in connection with the Closing.  

5. Use of Names. For a period of 180 days following after the Closing Date, CACI and CASub shall be permitted to use the names "Infonet 
Services Corporation" and "Government Systems, Inc." or variations thereof solely for the purpose of identifying themselves as the acquirors of 
GSI's business.  

6. Assignment of Infonet contracts. The parties agree that the business of GSI being acquired by CACI includes the contracts identified in 
Schedule A attached hereto, as to which Infonet is the contracting party. Infonet has assigned those contracts to CASub in the manner provided 
in the Acquisition Agreement with respect to GSI contracts; and Infonet hereby undertakes to pursue Government approval of assignment or 
novation of those contracts in the manner and to the extent provided in the Acquisition Agreement with respect to GSI contracts.  

7. Indemnification. Subject to the limitations set forth in this Closing Agreement, Infonet shall indemnify and hold harmless CACI and CASub 
and their respective successors by merger or other operation of law (the "Successors"), directors and officers from and against all losses, 
liabilities, claims, damages, costs or expenses (including, without limitation, reasonable expenses of investigation and reasonable attorneys' 
fees and disbursements) suffered, incurred or paid:  



a. that would not have been suffered, incurred or paid if all the representations, warranties, covenants and agreements of GSI in the Acquisition 
Agreement or in any other instrument or document described in  
Section 5.2 of the Acquisition Agreement had been (with respect to representatio ns and warranties) true and had been (with respect to 
covenants and agreements) fully performed and fulfilled;  

b. under the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act of 1988 ("WARN") or similar law as the result of any "plant closing" or "mass 
layoff," within the meaning of WARN, that occurs at or prior to Closing;  

c. as a result of any Action arising out of or relating to the conduct of the business of GSI before or after the Closing or any liability or 
obligation, or alleged liability, of GSI not specifically assumed by CACI under this Closing Agreement; and  

d. as a result of any Action which arises out of or relates to the failure of GSI to pay, promptly and when due, any tax, fee or other charge 
which shall become due or shall have accrued on account of the use, acquisition or ownership of GSI of any of the Assets or any tax, fee or 
other charge GSI is obligated to pay, or to reimburse CACI or CASub for, hereunder on account of any sale of the Assets or the transactions 
contemplated hereby.  

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if Infonet and/or GSI shall be required to indemnify CACI, CASub or any of their 
Subsidiaries or any of their respective directors, officers or Successors with respect to the same item of damage and amount, the satisfaction of 
such indemnity to one of them by either Infonet or GSI shall discharge Infonet's obligations to the other to the extent of the amount paid.  

8. Conditions. The obligations and liabilities of Infonet to a person or entity seeking indemnification (an "Indemnified Party") under this 
Closing Agreement with respect to claims resulting from the assertion of liability by third parties shall be subject to the following conditions:  

a. The Indemnified Party shall give written notice to Infonet of the nature of the assertion of liability by a third party and the amount thereof 
promptly after the Indemnified Party learns of such assertion. The Indemnified Party also shall give written notice to Infonet of any assertion of 
liability made by it against GSI and shall provide Infonet with a copy of such assertion. The foregoing notwithstanding, failure of an 
Indemnified Party to comply with its obligations under this Section 8 shall affect its right to indemnity only to the extent Infonet demonstrates 
actual damage caused by such failure.  

b. If any Action is brought by a third party against an Indemnified Party, the Action shall be defended by Infonet and such defense shall include 
all appeals or reviews which counsel for Infonet shall deem appropriate. Until Infonet shall have assumed the defense of any such Action, or if 
the Indemnified Party shall have reasonably concluded that there are likely to be defenses available to the Indemnified Party that are different 
from or in addition to those available to Infonet (in which case Infonet shall not be entitled to assume the defense of such Action), all legal or 
other expenses reasonably incurred by the Indemnified Party shall be borne by Infonet and shall be repaid to Infonet by the Indemnified Party if 
it is finally determined that Infonet was not liable or responsible for the claim underlying the Action.  

c. In any Action initiated by a third party and defended by Infonet,  
(i) the Indemnified Party shall have the right to be represented by advisory counsel and accountants, at its own expense, (ii) Infonet shall keep 
the Indemnified Party fully informed as to the status of such Action at all stages thereof, whether or not the Indemnified Party is represented by 
its own counsel, (iii) the Indemnified Party shall make available to Infonet, and its attorneys and accountants, all books and records of the 
Indemnified Party relating to such Action, and (iv) the parties shall render to each other such assistance (including, without limitation, as 
contemplated by Section 4.6 of the Acquisition Agreement) as may be reasonably required for the proper and adequate defense of such Action.  

d. In any Action initiated by a third party and defended by Infonet, Infonet shall not make any settlement of any claim without the written 
consent of the Indemnified Party, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. Without limiting the generality of the 
foregoing, it shall not be deemed unreasonable to withhold consent to a settlement involving injunctive or other equitable relief against the 
Indemnified Party or its assets, employees or business.  

9. Claims. If a claim is to be made by a party pursuant to Section 7 or 8 hereunder against Infonet, the claiming party shall give written notice 
(a "Claim Notice") to Infonet as soon as practicable after the claiming party becomes aware of any fact, condition or event which may give rise 
to a claim for which indemnification may be sought under this Closing Agreement. Each Indemnified Party shall use its reasonable commercial 
efforts not to assert duplicative claims against Infonet and GSI and to keep each of Infonet and GSI fully informed about claims made by such 
Indemnified Party against the other (and the progress and resolution of such claims).  

10. Limitation of Liability. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, Infonet shall not be liable to CACI or CASub in connection with 
this Closing Agreement or the transactions contemplated by the Acquisition Agreement for any indemnification or other form of obligation (i) 
unless (A) the claim is ripe, (B) the Claim Notice delivered in connection with such claim describes an actual occurrence giving rise to such 
claim and (C) the Claim Notice is received by the party from which indemnification is sought on or before June 30, 2000 and (ii) unless and 
until the aggregate amount of liability for any reason exceeds $25,000 (provided that thereafter Infonet shall make indemnification thereunder 
for the aggregate amount of such liability, including, without limitation, such $25,000). The total amount of Infonet's and GSI's obligation to 
indemnify or otherwise pay CACI, CASub or any other person or entity for any reason in connection with this Closing Agreement or the 
transactions contemplated by the Acquisition Agreement shall not exceed, in aggregate, the Purchase Price. CACI hereby agrees immediately 
to reimburse Infonet upon Infonet's demand if and when CACI, CASub, or any other Indemnified Party receives indemnification or payment in 
excess of the Purchase Price from Infonet and GSI pursuant to his Closing Agreement and/or the Acquisition Agreement.  



11. Representations and Warranties of Infonet. Infonet is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of 
Delaware. Infonet has the full corporate power to execute, deliver, and perform this Closing Agreement and to carry out its obligations 
hereunder. The execution, delivery and performance of this Closing Agreement have been duly and validly authorized by the Board of 
Directors of Infonet, and no other corporate proceedings on the part of Infonet remain necessary to authorize the execution, delivery and 
performance of this Closing Agreement. This Closing Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Infonet and is the legal, valid and 
binding obligation of Infonet, enforceable against Infonet in accordance with its terms except as enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, 
insolvency, reorganization or other laws affecting generally the enforcement of creditors' rights and except to the extent that courts may award 
money damages rather than specific performance of contractual provisions.  

12. Miscellaneous. Capitalized terms used, but not defined, herein shall have the respective meanings ascribed to such terms in the Acquisition 
Agreement  
. All notices and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be given in the manner set forth in Section 6.6 of the Acquisition 
Agreement. This Closing Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, all of which together shall constitute one and the same 
Closing Agreement. This Closing Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth of 
Virginia.  

INFONET SERVICES CORPORATION  

 

CACI INTERNATIONAL INC  

 

CACI, INC.  

 
 

End of Filing  

  

© 2005 | EDGAR Online, Inc.  

By            /s/ 
  -------------------------- 
  Name: 
  Title: 

By            /s/ 
  -------------------------- 
  Name: 
  Title: 

By            /s/ 
  -------------------------- 
  Name: 
 
  Title: 


